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FORM 6-K  

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  

Report of Foreign Issuer  
Pursuant to Rule 13a-16 or 15d-16 of  
The Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

For the month of April, 2004 Commission File Number: 0-20235  

NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.  

(Name of Registrant)  

130 Adelaide Street West  
Suite 2116  

Toronto, Ontario  
Canada M5H 3P5  

(Address of Principal Executive Offices)  

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant files or will file annual reports  
under cover of Form 20-F or Form 40-F:  

Form 20-F [ ] Form 40-F [X]  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is submitting the Form 6-K in paper as  
permitted by Regulation S-T Rule 101(b)(1): __  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is submitting the Form 6-K in paper as  
permitted by Regulation S-T Rule 101(b)(7): __  

Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant, by furnishing the information contained in this Form is also thereby furnishing the information to 
the SEC pursuant to Rule 12g3-2(b) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934:  

Yes [ ] Assigned File No. ____________ No [X]  

If "Yes" is marked, indicate the file number assigned to the Registrant in connection with Rule 12g3-2(b).  



This report on Form 6-K, dated April 6, 2004, is specifically incorporated by reference into North American Palladium's registration statement 
on Form S-8, filed in July 2001.  
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Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the 
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.  
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Title: Secretary  
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EXHIBIT 1  



NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.  

Management's Discussion and Analysis  

The following is management's discussion and analysis of operations and financial position and should be read in conjunction with the 
Company's consolidated financial statements that are included elsewhere in this annual report. It is intended to provide additional information 
on the Company's performance, financial position and outlook.  

Overview and Strategic Activities  

North American Palladium Ltd. (the "Company") operates the Lac des Iles mine located 85 km northwest of Thunder Bay, Ontario. The mine 
is Canada's only primary producer of platinum group metals and contains one of the largest open pit bulk mineable palladium reserves in the 
world. In addition to palladium, the Company earns substantial revenue from by-product nickel, platinum, gold and copper. Palladium's 
primary use continues to be in the auto industry where it is an important component in controlling exhaust emissions as mandated by more 
stringent hydrocarbon emission standards for cars, light trucks and SUVs, particularly in the United States, Europe and Japan. In addition, 
palladium is consumed in the dental, electronics, jewellery and chemical sectors.  

During 2003, the Company replaced the damaged primary crusher and made substantial progress in optimizing the grinding and flotation 
circuits in the  
mill. With the resumption of normal crushing operations and the improvement in mill availability, average throughput improved to over 15,000 
tonnes per day in the second half of 2003. With continued mill circuit optimization, and normal availability, the mill is expected to operate at 
an average rate of 15,000 tonnes per day in 2004.  

During 2003, the Company continued to investigate the feasibility of an underground development of the Main High Grade Zone, which lies 
directly below the ultimate depth of the open pit. Based on the completion of a positive feasibility study, a decision has been made to proceed 
with an underground mine development at Lac des Iles. The Company plans to finance a portion of the underground mine development with 
operating cash flow and is reviewing financing options for the balance.  

The Company hedges the price of its palladium production under a long-term contract with a major automotive manufacturer (the "Palladium 
Sales Contract"). The hedge price is based on the monthly average spot price for palladium with a floor price of US$325 per ounce for 100% of 
production and a ceiling price of US$550 per ounce for 50% of production. The remaining 50% of production is sold at market prices or the 
contract floor, whichever is higher. The Palladium Sales Contract expires on June 30, 2005.  

Results of Operations  

The Company generated gross revenue from metal sales of $192.1 million in 2003, compared to $176.8 million in 2002. Revenue in 2003 from 
the sale of palladium before the mark-to-market effect of price changes and palladium forward contracts was $109.4 million compared to 
$101.3 million in 2002. The revenue increase was due to a 32% increase in palladium production, offset by a drop in the average palladium 
price. The Company entered into palladium forward contracts in 2001 for 100,800 ounces of palladium at an average price of US$922 per 
ounce, the revenue from which had been fully recognized by June 30, 2003. These palladium forward contracts provided additional revenue of 
$20.4 million in 2003 compared to $46.0 million in 2002. The effect of palladium forward contracts represents the difference between the fixed 
price realized under the palladium forward contracts and the palladium price at the time of revenue recognition. During 2003, the spot price of 
palladium per ounce ranged from a high of US$269 to a low of US$148 and averaged US$200 compared to an average of US$338 during 2002. 
Palladium production sold to third-party smelters takes up to seven months from time of receipt at the smelter to settle the final pricing. The 
price adjustment relating to palladium settled and awaiting settlement was a small negative amount of $1.2 million compared to a negative $9.2 
million in 2002 when the palladium price weakened throughout the year. Revenue from by-product metal sales increased by 64% to $63.4 
million in 2003 compared to $38.7 million in 2002 reflecting the increased production and much improved price levels for nickel, platinum, 
gold and copper.  

During 2003, the mill processed 5,159,730 tonnes of ore or an average of 14,136 tonnes per day compared to 4,851,621 tonnes of ore or an 
average of 13,292 tonnes per day in 2002. Mining in 2003 moved into a higher-grade  



section of the pit, with the average palladium head grade improving to 2.31 grams per tonne as compared to 1.91 grams per tonne in 2002. 
During the year, mill palladium recoveries also improved to 75.5% as compared to 73.8% in 2002. While total production costs for 2003 of 
$103.7 million were comparable to $100.6 million in the prior year, unit cash costs to produce palladium (production costs including overhead 
and smelter treatment, refining and freight costs), net of other metal revenues and royalties, decreased to US$175 per ounce in 2003 compared 
to US$264 per ounce in 2002. The improvement in unit cash costs was achieved by a 32% increase in palladium production to 288,703 ounces 
in 2003 compared to 219,325 ounces in 2002 combined with higher revenue from by-product metals. With the activation of the new primary 
crusher in June 2003, continued improvement in mill throughput and availability, and stronger by-product revenue, cash costs improved to 
US$108 per ounce in the last half of 2003.  

Non-cash amortization increased to $28.6 million in 2003 compared to $20.2 million in 2002. The higher amortization amount is attributable to 
the 32% increase in palladium production and the increase in the unit of production amortization rate due to a restatement of reserves at June 
30, 2003 that resulted in a 20% reduction in palladium reserve ounces.  

During 2003, there was a write-down of mining interests of $2.3 million relating to the damaged primary crusher, which was removed from 
service and replaced with a new unit. There was no write down of mining interests in 2002.  

Income from mining operations was $33.8 million in 2003 compared to $34.3 million for the previous year. Although there was a significant 
improvement in palladium production compared to 2002, the results for 2003 were negatively impacted by a lower average realized palladium 
price and a reduction of $25.6 million in revenue from the palladium forward sales program compared to 2002.  
Other income and expense, which includes interest income and expense, exploration and foreign exchange gains and losses, was an income of 
$12.7 million in 2003 compared to an expense of $5.3 million in 2002. In the current year there was a foreign exchange gain of $18.1 million 
compared to gain of $0.8 million in 2002. The foreign exchange gain in the current year relates primarily to the Company's US dollar 
denominated credit facilities which have benefited from the strengthening of the Canadian dollar compared to the US dollar.  

In 2003, the Company incurred interest expense on the project term loan, and on the credit facility provided by Kaiser-Francis Oil Company 
("Kaiser-Francis"), in the amount of $3.2 million compared to $5.4 million in 2002. The Company's current year provision for income tax 
expense of $8.2 million consists of a current federal large corporation tax expense of $0.8 million and a future income and mining tax expense 
of $7.4 million. The Company's 2003 tax provision was reduced for the non-taxable portion of a capital gain relating to the foreign exchange 
gain and for changes in federal and provincial income tax rates and laws affecting the resource industry. Net income for the year improved by 
154% to $38.4 million or $0.75 per share (diluted) compared to $15.1 million or $0.30 per share (diluted) in 2002.  

 

                                                                       2003 
($000, except per share amounts)          1st Qtr       2nd Qtr       3rd Qtr      4th Qtr     Full Ye ar  
 
Revenue from metal sales                   45,120        44,631        42,585       59,805       192,1 41 
Net income                                  8,390        10,361         3,535       16,092        38,3 78 
Net income per share                         0.17          0.20          0.07         0.32          0. 76 
Fully diluted net income (loss) per share    0.17          0.20          0.07         0.31          0. 75 
 
                                                                       2002 
($000, except per share amounts)          1st Qtr       2nd Qtr       3rd Qtr      4th Qtr     Full Ye ar  
 
Revenue from metal sales                   44,577        41,745        46,547       43,904       176,7 73 
 
Net income (loss)                           6,246         7,521         2,894       (1,579)       15,0 82 
Net income (loss) per share                  0.12          0.15          0.06        (0.03)         0. 30 
Fully diluted net income per share           0.12          0.15          0.06        (0.03)         0. 30 



Changes in Accounting Policy  

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock options from the intrinsic value method to one that 
recognizes as an expense the cost of stock-based compensation based on the estimated fair value of new stock options granted to employees 
and directors. The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. As 
a result of this change in accounting policy, which was applied prospectively, an expense of $138 was recorded in 2003 to reflect the fair value 
of stock options granted to employees and directors in 2003.  

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted a new accounting standard of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") for 
asset retirement obligations which harmonizes with U.S. General Accepted Accounting Principles. This standard significantly changed the 
method of accounting for future site restoration costs. Under this new standard, asset retirement obligations are recognized when incurred and 
recorded as liabilities at fair value. The amount of the liability is subject to re-measurement at each reporting period. The liability is accreted 
over time through periodic charges to earnings. In addition, the asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of the asset's carrying value and 
amortized over the estimated life of the mine. This change in accounting policy was applied retroactively and, accordingly, the consolidated 
financial statements of prior periods were restated. As a result of this change, certain balance sheet accounts as of December 31, 2002 were 
restated as follows:  
mining interests increased by $6.5 million and the mine closure obligation increased to $7.0 million. An expense of $0.9 million was recorded 
in 2003 for accretion of the mine closure obligation and amortization for asset retirements.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Cash flow from operations (prior to changes in non-cash working capital) was $59.8 million in 2003, compared to $47.5 million in 2002. The 
$12.3 million increase was primarily due to an increase in income from mining operations that resulted from increased palladium and by-
product metal production, offset by lower palladium prices. Changes in non-cash working capital consumed $5.2 million of cash in the current 
year as compared to $5.4 million in 2002. Palladium awaiting settlement grew to 147,570 ounces at December 31, 2003 compared to 93,619 
ounces at December 31, 2002; however, this increase was offset by lower average palladium prices and a weaker US dollar, which are used to 
value the concentrate awaiting settlement. After allowing for non-cash working capital changes, cash provided by operations was $54.6 million 
in 2003 compared to $42.1 million in 2002.  

Investing activities required $8.3 million of cash in 2003, with short-term investments providing $3.3 million and additions to plant and 
equipment and deferred exploration and development costs at the Roby deposit requiring $11.7 million. This compares with $8.1 million of net 
investing activities in 2002.  

During the year, the Company's financial position was further strengthened by a disciplined debt reduction program. In 2003, long-term debt 
was reduced by $63.6 million as a result of repayments of $45.1 million and a foreign exchange gain of $18.5 million. The Company's net debt 
position was reduced to $45.0 million at December 31, 2003 compared to $105.8 million at December 31, 2002. The year-end cash and cash 
equivalents balance was $12.0 million compared to $11.5 million for the prior year.  

Risks and Uncertainties  

The price of palladium is the most significant factor influencing the profitability of the Company. In 2003, sales of palladium accounted for 
approximately 67% of the Company's revenue. Many factors influence the price of palladium, including global supply and demand, speculative 
activities, international political and economic conditions and production levels and costs in other platinum group metal-producing countries, 
particularly Russia and South Africa. To offset the price risk, the Company entered into the Palladium Sales Contract and other hedge contracts 
to cover a portion of expected annual production as set out below.  

The possible development of a substitute alloy or synthetic material, which has catalytic characteristics similar to platinum group metals, may 
result in a future decrease in demand for palladium and platinum.  



Currency fluctuations may affect cash flow since production currently is sold in United States dollars, whereas the Company's administration, 
operating and exploration expenses are incurred in Canadian dollars. As a result, changes in the exchange rate between Canadian and United 
States dollars can affect revenue and profitability.  

The Company is dependent on one mine for its metal production. The business of mining is generally subject to risks and hazards, including 
environmental hazards, industrial accidents, metallurgical and other processing problems, unusual and unexpected rock formations, pit slope 
failures, flooding and periodic interruptions due to inclement weather conditions or other acts of nature, mechanical equipment and facility 
performance problems and the availability of materials and equipment. These risks could result in damage to, or destruction of, the Company's 
properties or production facilities, personal injury or death, environmental damage, delays in mining, monetary losses and possible legal 
liability. Although the Company maintains insurance in respect of the mining operations that is within ranges of coverage consistent with 
industry practice, such insurance may not provide coverage of all the risks associated with mining. The Company has made a claim under its 
property damage and business interruption insurance policies relating to the primary crusher failure which occurred in 2002. The Company will 
record the effect of this insurance recovery in its financial statements when the proceeds are received.  

Outlook  

North American Palladium made a significant improvement in operating performance in the second half of 2003. Achieving our targeted 
operating objectives at the Lac des Iles mine and the resulting strengthening of our financial position will allow the Company to exploit the 
future exploration and development potential at the Lac des Iles mine. The immediate priority is to develop the Main High Grade Zone where 
the economic viability of a conventional underground mining operation has been demonstrated. The development of the Main High Grade Zone 
will be fast-tracked by ramp access with commercial production expected in the second half of 2005. This zone is almost 12 metres thick with a 
strike length in excess of 350 metres and an average grade of 6.6 grams palladium per tonne.  

The Company expects to spend over $2.0 million on its 2004 exploration program focusing on three primary properties that have given 
encouraging preliminary results. In particular, work on our 100% owned Haines claim block and the contiguous Inco Limited Shebandowan 
joint venture properties totaling more than 16,000 acres, will figure prominently in the 2004 exploration program.  

The Company continues to hold a positive view on the long-term palladium fundamentals and believes that there is the potential for a sustained 
rally in the price of palladium. The primary use for palladium is in the production of autocatalysts, which are used to reduce harmful air 
emissions from the exhaust systems of automobiles over the medium term. Governments around the world have announced more stringent 
emission standards. Given the movement by global governments to enact more stringent air emission standards, palladium demand is expected 
to increase. With platinum currently trading at more than three times the price of palladium, the Company continues to believe that automobile 
manufacturers will be encouraged to increase their use of palladium in catalytic converters. The switch back to palladium will be further 
encouraged by the reliability of supply, which has improved over the past year.  

During the second half of 2003, the Company initiated a corporate development strategy to expand its precious metals mining business with an 
initial focus in Canada. During the coming year, we will continue to evaluate opportunities that include existing base and precious metal 
operation and development projects. We are targeting advanced stage projects with the potential to host world-class base and precious metal 
deposits where our demonstrated operating strength will enhance shareholder value.  



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

Enclosed are the Company's consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated statements of earnings and 
deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003 (collectively the "Financial Statements") and 
management's discussion and analysis of operations and financial position ("MD&A") for the Financial Statements. Certain statements 
included the Financial Statements and MD&A are forward-looking statements which are made pursuant to the "safe harbor" provisions of the 
United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. They include estimates and statements that describe the Company's future 
plans, objectives and goals, including words to the effect that the Company or management expects a stated condition or result to occur. When 
used herein, words such as "estimate", "expect", "intend", and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In 
particular, statements relating to estimated mineral reserves, cash flows, capital costs, ore production, mine life, financing, construction and 
strategic plans are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties and are subject to 
factors, many of which are beyond our control, that may cause actual results or performance to differ materially from those currently 
anticipated in such statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements include among others metal price volatility, economic and political events affecting metal supply and demand, 
fluctuations in ore grade, ore tonnes milled, geological, technical, mining or processing problems, future profitability and production, and 
availability of financing on acceptable terms. For a more comprehensive review of risk factors, please refer to the Company's most recent 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis" (enclosed) and Annual Information Form under "Risk Factors" on file with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission and Canada provincial securities regulatory authorities. Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to put 
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements 
whether as a result of new information, events or otherwise.  



NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.  
MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENT S  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. Financial statements are not precise since they include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. When 
alternative methods exist, management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances in order to ensure that the consolidated 
financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The financial 
information presented elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.  

The Company maintains adequate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the Company's assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded and that the financial information is relevant 
and reliable.  

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting, and is 
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying management's discussion and 
analysis. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee.  

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are non-management directors. The Audit Committee meets 
periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls, auditing matters and financial reporting issues, and to 
satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee also reviews the consolidated financial 
statements, management's discussion and analysis, the external auditors' report, examines the fees and expenses for audit services, and 
considers the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board for its consideration 
when approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, have full and 
free access to the Audit Committee.  

Toronto, Canada  
February 20, 2004  
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"Andre J. Douchane" (signed)                "George  D. Faught" (signed) 
------------------------------------        ------- -----------------------------  
ANDRE J. DOUCHANE                           GEORGE D. FAUGHT 
President and CEO                           Vice Pr esident Finance, and CFO 



Auditors' Report  

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD .  

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of North American Palladium Ltd. as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated 
statements of earnings and deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 
31, 2003 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  

As described in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its accounting policies for asset retirement 
obligations effective January 1, 2003 and has restated its provision for mine closure costs, mining interests and mine closure obligation.  

"Ernst & Young LLP" (signed)  

Chartered Accountants  

Toronto, Canada,  
February 20, 2004.  
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                                             NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD. 
                                              CONSO LIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                                        (Canadian f unds in thousands of dollars) 
 
 
                                                                                              December  31 
                                                                                        2003                2002 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                                          Restated, 
                                                                                                          Note 3(b) 
ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                     $         11,950     $        11,536 
Short-term investments                                                                   1,813               5,127 
Concentrate awaiting settlement, net - Note 4                                           94,610              85,312 
Inventories - Note 5                                                                     9,141               7,414 
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles                                                        6,251               9,157 
Future tax asset - Note 16                                                                  84               4,868 
Accounts receivable and other assets                                                     1,387               1,683 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                       125,236             125,097 
 
Mining interests, net - Note 6                                                         247,116             266,075 
Mine closure deposit - Note 7                                                            4,733               3,470 
Deferred financing costs                                                                 1,290               2,080 
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles                                                        5,983               7,983 
Future tax asset - Note 16                                                               9,334              11,218 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                              $        393,692     $       415,923 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                      $         16,041     $        14,813 
Taxes payable                                                                            1,311               1,940 
Future tax liability - Note 16                                                             216                   - 
Current portion of obligations under capital leases  - Note 8                             1,070               1,127 
Current portion of project term loan - Note 9                                           34,538              51,083 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                        53,176              68,963 
 
Mine closure obligation - Note 3(b)                                                      7,300               7,019 
Obligations under capital leases - Note 8                                                1,015               1,024 
Project term loan - Note 9                                                               7,272              51,083 
Kaiser-Francis credit facility - Note 10                                                14,866              18,163 
Future tax liability - Note 16                                                          10,108               9,600 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                        93,737             155,852 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Capital stock - Note 12                                                                313,489             311,983 
Deficit                                                                                (13,534)            (51,912) 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
Total shareholders' equity                                                             299,955             260,071 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                              $        393,692     $       415,923 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
Commitments - Note 13 
Contingencies - Note 15 
 
See accompanying notes 
On Behalf of the Board 
"Michael P. Amsden" (signed)                                    "Greg Van Staveren" (signed) 
--------------------------------------------------- ------       -------------------------------------- ----------------  
MICHAEL P. AMSDEN                                               GREG VAN STAVEREN 
Director                                                        Director 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
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                                             NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD. 
                                    CONSOLIDATED ST ATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND DEFICIT 
                      (Canadian funds in thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts) 
 
 
                                                                               Year ended December 31 
                                                                     2003               2002                2001 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                                     Restated,           Restated, 
                                                                                     Note 3(b)           Note 3(b) 
REVENUE FROM METAL SALES - Note 14                          $      192,141      $       176,773    $        121,496 
Deduct: smelter treatment, refining and freight cos ts              (19,048)             (16,909)            (11,140) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Net revenue from mining operations                                 173,093              159,864             110,356 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
OPERATING EXPENSES 
Production costs including overhead                                103,654              100,599              66,405 
Amortization - Note 6(b)                                            28,590               20,190              11,515 
Administrative expenses                                              3,788                4,212               4,112 
Provision for mine closure costs - Note 3(b)                           921                  587                 637 
Write-down of mining interests - Note 6(d)                           2,315                   --               4,636 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Total operating expenses                                           139,268              125,588              87,305 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
INCOME FROM MINING OPERATIONS                                       33,825               34,276              23,051 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) 
Interest income                                                        474                  663               1,560 
Loss on disposal of capital assets                                    (788)                 (99)                (14) 
Interest                                                               (17)                (433)               (226) 
Interest on long-term debt - Notes 9 and 10                         (3,158)              (5,405)             (3,406) 
Exploration expense                                                 (1,942)                (850)               (927) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)                                        18,138                  792              (6,765) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Total other income (expenses)                                       12,707               (5,332)             (9,778) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES                                          46,532               28,944              13,273 
Provision for income taxes - Note 16                                 8,154               13,862               6,085 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR                                             38,378               15,082               7,188 
 
Deficit, beginning of year                                         (51,912)             (66,994)            (74,182) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Deficit, end of year                                        $      (13,534)     $       (51,912)   $        (66,994) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
Net income per share                                        $        0.76       $        0.30      $         0.14 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Diluted net income per share - Note 12(b)                   $        0.75       $        0.30      $         0.14 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - bas ic           50,763,566           50,544,634          50,375,690 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - dil uted - 
      Note 12(b)                                                50,832,904           50,593,508          50,543,134 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
 
See accompanying notes 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
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                                             NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD. 
                                         CONSOLIDAT ED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                                        (Canadian f unds in thousands of dollars) 
 
 
                                                                               Year ended December 31 
                                                                    2003                2002                2001 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                                     Restated,           Restated, 
                                                                                     Note 3(b)           Note 3(b) 
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) 
OPERATIONS 
Net income for the year                                     $        38,378    $         15,082    $          7,188 
Operating items not involving cash 
    Future income tax expense                                         7,392              13,046               4,428 
    Amortization                                                     28,590              20,190              11,515 
    Accrued interest on mine closure deposit                            (63)                (38)               (102) 
    Write-down of mining interests                                    2,315                  --               4,636 
    Foreign exchange loss (gain)                                    (18,519)             (1,494)              6,037 
    Loss on disposal of capital assets                                  788                  99                  14 
    Provision for mine closure costs                                    921                 587                 637 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                     59,802              47,472              34,353 
 
Changes in non-cash working capital - Note 17(a)                     (5,235)             (5,369)            (31,410) 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                     54,567              42,103               2,943 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Repayment of project term loan                                      (45,134)            (33,233)             (6,724) 
Issuance of common shares                                             1,506               1,199               1,950 
Mine closure deposit                                                 (1,200)             (1,200)             (1,100) 
Obligations under capital leases                                     (1,046)             (1,419)             (1,043) 
Notes payable - Kaiser-Francis Oil Company                               --              10,372               7,819 
Deferred financing costs                                                 --                  --                (276) 
Increase in project term loan                                            --                  --              78,513 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                    (45,874)            (24,281)             79,139 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Short-term investments                                                3,314                (128)             35,453 
Additions to plant and equipment                                    (10,711)             (5,579)           (116,704) 
Mining claims, exploration and development costs                       (996)             (2,867)             (3,590) 
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment                             114                 513                  31 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                     (8,279)             (8,061)            (84,810) 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                        414               9,761              (2,728) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year                         11,536               1,775               4,503 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year                      $        11,950    $         11,536    $          1,775 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
 
 
See accompanying notes 
 
 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
                                                          -5- 



NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.  
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001  

 
(Canadian funds in thousands of dollars)  

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

North American Palladium Ltd. ("NAP" or "the Company") is a Canadian company in the business of exploring and mining Platinum Group 
Metals ("PGMs") and certain base and precious metals. Its principal asset is the Lac des Iles mine located in the Thunder Bay District in 
Ontario. The Company operates in one geographical area, Canada, and in one operating segment, mining.  

The Company's financial position and operating results are directly affected by the market price of the PGMs in relation to the Company's 
production costs. The prices of PGMs and by-product metals (palladium, platinum, gold, copper and nickel) fluctuate widely and are affected 
by numerous factors beyond the Company's control. The Company is under long-term contracts with two smelting firms for the sale of its 
concentrates. During 2000 the Company entered into a long-term palladium sales agreement, which expires on June 30, 2005, with a major 
automotive manufacturer to hedge the sale of all of its palladium production (note 13(a)).  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and, except 
as discussed in note 18, conform in all material respects with United States generally accepted accounting principles. The more significant 
accounting policies are summarized as follows:  

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION  

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Lac des Iles Mines Ltd. 
("LDI").  

REVENUE AND CONCENTRATE AWAITING SETTLEMENT  

Revenue is recognized net of royalties upon the delivery of concentrate to the third-party smelter. Concentrate awaiting settlement at the 
smelter is recorded at net realizable value less estimated smelting, refining and transportation costs. Final prices for concentrate awaiting 
settlement are determined up to seven months after delivery to the smelter. Revaluations of net realizable value are included in revenue at each 
reporting period and are adjusted for the effects of the sales contracts with the smelters and hedging instruments.  

Although the Company sold its metals during 2003 to a limited number of customers, the Company is not economically dependent upon them 
as there are other markets throughout the world for the Company's metals.  

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

The Company enters into forward commodity sales contracts from time to time to hedge the effect of changes in the prices of metals it 
produces on the Company's revenues (notes 13(a), (c) and (d)). Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments used to mitigate metal 
price risk are recognized in revenue from metal sales (note 14) when the hedged transaction occurs.  

From time to time the Company enters into foreign exchange forward sales contracts to manage the effect of fluctuations in the value of 
committed U.S. dollar denominated revenues.  
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For those forward exchange contracts designated by the Company as hedges, a gain or loss is recognized in metal sales when the hedged 
transaction occurs. Those foreign exchange forward sales contracts not designated by the Company as hedges are marked to market as at the 
balance sheet date and the resultant gains or losses are included in earnings for the period.  

The Company uses electricity swap contracts to hedge the effects of price fluctuations in its electricity purchase requirements in Ontario (note 
13(e). The net swap settlements are recognized in the same period as the hedged transaction.  

The Company does not hold financial instruments or derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Cash flows arising in respect of 
hedging transactions are recognized under cash flows from operating activities.  

The Company does not consider the credit risk associated with its financial instruments to be significant. Foreign currency contracts and 
commodity hedge contracts are maintained with credit-worthy counter-parties, and the Company does not anticipate that any counter-party will 
fail to meet its obligations.  

CONCENTRATE, CRUSHED AND BROKEN ORE STOCKPILES AND SUPPLIES INVENTORIES  

Concentrate and crushed and broken ore stockpiles are valued at the lower of average production cost and net realizable value. The amount of 
stockpiled ore that is not expected to be processed within one year is shown as a long-term asset. Supplies inventory is valued at the lower of 
average direct acquisition cost and replacement cost.  

MINING INTERESTS  

Plant and equipment are recorded at cost with amortization generally provided either on the unit-of-production method over the proven and 
probable reserves to which they relate or on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of seven years.  

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases. These leases are capitalized based on the lower of fair market value and the 
present value of future minimum lease payments. The corresponding liabilities are recorded as obligations under capital leases. This equipment 
is being amortized on the same basis as described above.  

Mining leases and claims and royalty interests are recorded at cost and are amortized on the unit-of-production method over the proven and 
probable reserves.  

Exploration and development costs relating to properties are charged to earnings in the year in which they are incurred. When it is determined 
that a mining property can be economically developed as a result of established proven and probable reserves, future development and 
exploration expenditures are capitalized. Determination as to reserve potential is based on the results of feasibility studies, which indicate 
whether production from a property is economically feasible. Initial feasibility studies are optimized once drilling has confirmed the shape, 
grades and continuity of the mineralization. Upon commencement of the commercial production of a development project these costs are 
amortized using the unit-of-production method over the proven and probable reserves. Deferred expenditures, net of salvage values, relating to 
a property that is abandoned or considered uneconomic for the foreseeable future are written off.  

Each year, the Company reviews mining plans for the remaining life of each property. Significant changes in the mine plan can occur as a 
result of mining experience, new discoveries, changes in mining methods and rates, process changes, investments in new equipment and 
technology and other factors. Based on year-end ore reserves and the current mine plan, the Company reviews annually its accounting estimates 
and makes adjustments accordingly.  

The Company assesses long-lived assets for recoverability whenever indicators of impairment exist. When the carrying value of a long-lived 
asset is less than its net recoverable  
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value as determined on an undiscounted basis, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that its fair value, measured as the discounted 
cash flows over the life of the asset.  

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS  

Asset retirement obligations are recognized when incurred and recorded as liabilities at fair value. The amount of the liability is subject to re-
measurement at each reporting period. The liability is accreted over time through periodic charges to earnings. In addition, the asset retirement 
cost is capitalized as part of mining interests and amortized over the estimated life of the mine. In determining the estimated obligation and 
asset, the total undiscounted cash flows estimated were approximately $5.8 million to $9.8 million, the majority of which is to be paid at the 
end of the mine life.  

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLAN  

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in note 12(a). Effective January 1, 2003, the Company prospectively 
adopted the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation in accordance with the recommendations issued by The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA"). For options granted from January 1, 2002 to December 31, 2002, the Company elected to not 
recognize compensation expense when stock options are issued to employees. Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock 
options or purchase of stock is credited to share capital.  

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY  

Transactions recorded in United States dollars have been translated into Canadian dollars as follows:  

1. Monetary items at the rate prevailing at the consolidated balance sheet dates;  
2. Non-monetary items at the historical exchange rate; and  
3. Revenue and expenses at the actual rate in effect during the applicable accounting period.  

All resulting foreign exchange gains and losses are recorded in the consolidated statements of earnings and deficit.  

INCOME TAXES  

The Company follows the liability method of tax allocation for accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of tax allocation, future 
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are 
measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on 
future tax liabilities and assets of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that the change occurs.  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on account, demand deposits and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or 
less and are stated at cost. Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2003 include cash equivalents of nil (2002 - $4,738).  

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

The carrying amounts of all financial instruments on the balance sheet approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities or variable 
interest rates.  
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USE OF ESTIMATES  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and that also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported year. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.  

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

(a) Stock-based compensation  

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock options from the intrinsic value method to one that 
recognizes as an expense the cost of stock-based compensation based on the estimated fair value of new stock options granted to employees 
and directors. The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. 
As a result of this change in accounting policy, which was applied prospectively, an expense of $138 was recorded in 2003 to reflect the fair 
value of stock options granted to employees and directors in 2003.  

(b) Asset retirement obligations  

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted a new accounting standard of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") for 
asset retirement obligations which harmonizes the accounting with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the U.S. This standard 
significantly changed the method of accounting for future site restoration costs. Under this new standard, asset retirement obligations are 
recognized when incurred and recorded as liabilities at fair value. The amount of the liability is subject to re-measurement at each reporting 
period. The liability is accreted over time through periodic charges to earnings. In addition, the asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of the 
asset's carrying value and amortized over the estimated life of the mine. This change in accounting policy was applied retroactively and, 
accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of prior periods were restated. As a result of this change, certain balance sheet accounts as of 
December 31, 2002 were restated as follows: mining interests increased by $6,489 and the mine closure obligation increased to $7,019. An 
expense of $921 was recorded in 2003 for accretion of the mine closure obligation and amortization for asset retirements. This accounting 
policy change increased the provision for mine closure costs by $53 in 2002 (reduced net income per share - nil) and $322 in 2001 (reduced net 
income per share - $0.01).  

4. CONCENTRATE AWAITING SETTLEMENT  

Concentrate awaiting settlement is comprised of:  
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                                                                2003                 2002 
                                                           ----------------      --------------  
Concentrate awaiting settlement, gross                 $         104,880    $         92,533 
Refining and smelter treatment charges                           (10,270)             (7,221) 
                                                           ----------------      --------------  
Concentrate awaiting settlement, net                   $          94,610    $         85,312 
                                                           ----------------      --------------  



The gross value of concentrate awaiting settlement represents the value of all PGMs and base metals from production shipped to and received 
by the third-party smelters between June and December 2003, including 147,570 ounces of palladium (2002 - between July and December 
2002, including 93,619 ounces of palladium).  

All of the concentrate awaiting settlement is from two domestic customers at December 31, 2003 (2002 - two domestic customers). No reserves 
for doubtful accounts have been established. In the opinion of management, full realization will occur on all such receivables.  

5. INVENTORIES  

Inventories consist of the following:  

 

6. MINING INTERESTS  

(a) Mining interests are comprised of the following:  

 

(b) Amortization expense is comprised of:  

 

(c) During 2003, the Company capitalized interest of nil (2002 - nil; 2001 - $3,190).  
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                                                                                     2003               2002 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
Concentrate                                                                   $       1,669    $           670 
Supplies                                                                              7,472              6,744 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
                                                                              $       9,141    $         7,414 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  

                                                                                     2003               2002 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
Plant and equipment, at cost                                                  $     322,966    $       313,405 
Accumulated amortization                                                            108,972             82,718 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
                                                                                    213,994            230,687 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
 
Equipment under capital lease, at cost                                                3,758              3,299 
Accumulated amortization                                                              1,056                311 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
                                                                                      2,702              2,988 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
 
Mining leases and claims, royalty interest, explora tion and 
development, at cost                                                                 82,353             81,357 
Accumulated amortization                                                             51,933             48,957 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
                                                                                     30,420             32,400 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
Mining interests, net                                                         $     247,116    $       266,075 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  

                                                                      2003           2002             2001 
                                                                  ------------    -----------    ----- ----------  
Capital assets (including plant and equipment, and            $        24,746  $      17,505  $        10,268 
  equipment under capital lease) 
 
Mining leases and claims, royalty interest, 
  exploration and development costs                                     3,054          1,895              852 
Deferred financing costs                                                  790            790              395 
                                                                  ------------    -----------    ----- ----------  
                                                              $        28,590  $      20,190  $        11,515 
                                                                  ------------    -----------    ----- ----------  



(d) The Company recorded a write-down of $2,315 in 2003 pertaining to the retirement of a damaged primary crusher and $4,636 in 2001 when 
plant and equipment was removed from service with the commissioning of the new mill.  

7. MINE CLOSURE PLAN  

The Company, in conjunction with the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines (the "Ministry"), has established a trust fund (the 
"Fund") pursuant to the Company's mine closure plan. The mine closure plan calls for a total amount of $7,802 to be accumulated in the Fund 
in order to allow for the eventual clean-up and restoration of the mine site.  

Commencing in February 2001, the Fund, controlled by the Ministry, started to accumulate through monthly deposits of $100. At December 
31, 2003, the Company had $4,733 (2002 - $3,470) on deposit with the Ministry including accrued interest of $203. The funds on deposit bear 
interest at current short-term deposit rates and will be returned to the Company once the mine closure is completed.  

8. LEASE OBLIGATIONS  

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments:  

 

9. PROJECT TERM LOAN  

On June 27, 2000, the Company received a US$90,000 non-revolving term credit facility, which was amended on July 11, 2002. The credit 
facility financed part of the capital costs, working capital and interest during construction of the expansion project. Outstanding loans bear 
interest or stamping fees based upon banker's acceptances or LIBOR rates plus a margin of 1 3/4%.  

In return for granting the loan the lender received a secured interest in all of the Company's existing and future assets. In addition, the lender 
received an assignment of all material agreements including the palladium sales contract (note 13(a)) and a pledge of the shares of LDI.  

Kaiser-Francis Oil Company ("Kaiser-Francis"), the majority shareholder of the Company, and its shareholders have guaranteed the Company's 
obligations under the credit facility in return for a fee of 0.5% per annum of amounts drawn under the loan facility. Amounts paid to Kaiser-
Francis in connection with this guarantee were $338 (2002 - $605; 2001 - $531).  

Amounts drawn under the credit facility are required to be repaid in quarterly installments. At December 31, 2003, there were five remaining 
installment payments as follows: US$7,031  
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                                                                    2003                  2002 
                                                               ----------------      --------------  
2003                                                         $            -        $      1,226 
2004                                                                  1,098                 465 
2005                                                                    620                 613 
2006                                                                    257                   - 
2007                                                                    171                   - 
                                                               ----------------      --------------  
Total minimum lease payments                                          2,146               2,304 
 
 
Amounts representing interest rates from 3.62 % - 7 .7%                   61                 153 
                                                               ----------------      --------------  
Present value of minimum lease payments                      $        2,085        $      2,151 
Less current portion                                         $        1,070        $      1,127 
                                                               ----------------      --------------  
Long-term liabilities                                        $        1,015        $      1,024 
                                                               ----------------      --------------  



for each of the first three quarters of 2004 and US$5,625 for the last quarter of 2004 and the first quarter of 2005. The final maturity date of the 
credit facility is March 31, 2005.  

The Company has the right to prepay any amount outstanding under the credit facility, without penalty, and in some circumstances may be 
required to make prepayments equal to the amount of insurance proceeds received in connection with a major loss or 66% of excess cash flow, 
which is defined as cash flow less payments of principal and interest and payments to the debt service reserve amount.  

The credit facility includes customary representations, warranties and covenants, including a covenant by the Company not to pay dividends or 
make any other payment to shareholders while the loan is outstanding. The credit facility also provides for customary events of default, 
including default of performance under a material agreement or debt, as well as if a party other than Kaiser-Francis acquires more than 40% of 
the Company, or upon the death of Mr. Kaiser the controlling shareholder of Kaiser-Francis.  

10. KAISER-FRANCIS CREDIT FACILITY  

On December 13, 2001, the Company entered into a US$20,000 non-revolving credit facility with Kaiser-Francis. The loan was used to finance 
the Company's working capital requirements. The loan bears interest based upon the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 2.25%. The final maturity date of 
the loan is May 31, 2005. Amounts not drawn under the loan are subject to a standby fee payable quarterly at 0.125% per annum. The 
Company paid on closing a commitment fee of 0.75% of the total commitment (US$150). In connection with the loan, the Company has 
granted Kaiser-Francis security interests in all of the assets of the Company and a pledge of the LDI shares. The security interests and pledge of 
LDI shares are subordinated to the security interests of the project term loan facility. As at December 31, 2003, the outstanding loan was 
US$11,500 (2002 - US$11,500).  

The loan agreement includes customary representations, warranties and covenants, including a covenant by the Company not to pay dividends 
or make any other payment to shareholders while the loan is outstanding. The loan agreement also provides for customary events of default.  

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND COMMITMENTS  

In addition to the related party transactions with Kaiser-Francis disclosed in notes 9 and 10, the Company has completed the following related 
party transactions:  

(a) On January 1, 1999, the Company entered into a farm-in agreement with a mining company of which one of the Company's directors is an 
officer and director. Under the agreement, the Company earned the right to a 100% interest in six mining claims in the vicinity of the Lac des 
Iles property by making payments to the optionor totaling $260 and by conducting exploration work in the amount of $135 by December 31, 
2000. The optionor retained a 2% net smelter royalty on the farm-in claim property.  

(b) In 2003, a director of the Company received a fee of $400 (2002 - $412; 2001 - $166) in connection with the negotiations related to the 
palladium sales contract entered into by the Company in 2000 (note 13(a)). The contract was made prior to such person becoming a director of 
the Company. A second director received a fee of nil (2002 - nil; 2001 - $33) in connection with consulting services provided to the Company.  
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12. CAPITAL STOCK  

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of special shares, 
issuable in series, including 10,000,000 Series "A" preferred shares.  

(a) COMMON SHARES The changes in issued common share capital for the year are summarized below:  

 

(b) GROUP REGISTERED RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN The Company has arranged a group registered retirement savings plan, which 
all employees can participate in at their option. The Company is required to make matching contributions to a maximum of $5 per employee 
per annum. The Company matching contribution can be made either in cash or treasury shares of the company. During 2003 the Company 
contributed 190,605 shares at a stated capital of $905 (2002 - 84,753 shares at a stated capital of $709; 2001 - 43,503 shares at a stated capital 
of $475).  

(c) PRIVATE PLACEMENT On December 22, 2003, the Company completed a private placement of 43,328 flow through common shares. 
The gross proceeds of $500 must be spent on Canadian exploration expenses as defined in section 66 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) by 
December 31, 2004.  

(d) CORPORATE STOCK OPTION PLAN The Company has adopted, and the shareholders have approved, the ongoing 1995 Corporate 
Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), under which eligible directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company are entitled to receive 
options to acquire common shares. The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee, a subcommittee of the Board of Directors, which 
will determine the number of options to be issued, the exercise price (which may not be lower than the closing price of the Company's common 
shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) on the day prior to the date of grant) and expiration dates of each option, the extent to which each 
option is exercisable provided that the term of an option shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant, as well as establishing a limited time 
period should the optionee cease to be an "Eligible Person" as set forth in the conditions of the Plan. Options granted since December 2001 vest 
as to 1/3 on each of the first three anniversary dates of the  
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                                                       2003                    2002                        2001 
                                           -------- ----------------- --------------------------- ----- --------------------  
 
                                                 Sh ares       Amount         Shares       Amount       Shares      Amount 
Common shares issued, beginning of year      50,647 ,955     $311,983     50,447,630     $310,784   50, 028,772   $ 308,834 
Common shares issued 
    Pursuant to stock options exercised          13 ,450          101        115,572          490      375,355       1,475 
    To Group Registered Retirement 
      Savings Plan participants                 190 ,605          905         84,753          709       43,503         475 
    Private  placement                           43 ,328          500             --           --           --          -- 
                                           -------- ----------------- --------------------------- ----- --------------------  
Common shares issued, end of year            50,895 ,338     $313,489     50,647,955   $311,983     50, 447,630   $ 310,784 
                                           -------- ----------------- --------------------------- ----- --------------------  



date of grant. Prior to December 2001, options granted under the Plan vested as to 1/3 on the date of grant and 1/3 on each of the first two 
anniversary dates.  

The maximum number of common shares subject to option shall not exceed 2,700,000, being approximately 5.3% of the outstanding common 
shares or such greater number of common shares as may be determined by the Board of Directors, and approved if required, by the 
shareholders of the Company and by any relevant stock exchange or other regulatory authority. As at December 31, 2003, 591,127 options 
were available to be granted under the Plan.  

The following summary sets out the activity in outstanding common share purchase options:  

 

The following table summarizes information about the Company's stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003 (see also note 15(a):  

 

The Company has reserved for issuance 1,038,857 common shares in the event that these options are exercised.  

Prior to January 1, 2003, the Company did not recognize compensation expense for stock options. Had compensation expense for options 
granted in 2002 under the Company's stock  
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                                                              2003                               2002 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- --------------  
                                                                        Weighted-                         Weighted- 
                                                                          Average                           Average 
                                                                         Exercise                          Exercise 
                                                    Shares                  Price          Shares             Price 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- --------------  
Outstanding, beginning of year                    1 ,066,939      $         11.04         1,402,278    $       10.74 
Granted                                             258,000                 3.71           148,000            10.01 
Exercised                                           (13,450)                7.50          (115,572)            4.24 
Cancelled                                          (272,632)                1.15          (367,767)           11.62 
                                               ---- -----------      --------------------------------     -----------  
Grand total                                       1 ,038,857      $          9.24         1,066,939    $       11.04 
                                               ---- -----------      --------------------------------     -----------  
 
Options exercisable at end of year                  685,057      $         11.27           753,855    $       11.02 
                                               ---- -----------      --------------------------------     -----------  

                                                                       Options 
       Exercise Price                   Expiry Date s                Outstanding at       Options Exerc isable at 
                                                                     Dec. 31, 2003                Dec.  31, 2003 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
$ 3.42                                           Ap ril 7, 2011            180,500                            -- 
$ 3.70                                           Ap ril 1, 2011             50,000                            -- 
$ 4.75                                       Februa ry 27, 2011              7,500                            -- 
$ 5.92                                       Septem ber 2, 2011             20,000                            -- 
$ 7.50                                        Octob er 23, 2006             24,217                        24,217 
$ 7.89                                       Decemb er 12, 2009             59,400                        39,600 
$ 8.40                                           Ma rch 3, 2005             75,000                        75,000 
$ 9.30                                           Ju ly 27, 2005            126,983                       126,983 
$ 9.40                                          Mar ch 15, 2005             26,839                        26,839 
$ 9.70                                        Novem ber 6, 2005             24,168                        24,168 
$ 10.01                                           J une 6, 2010            114,000                        38,000 
$ 13.55                                           J une 6, 2006            217,750                       217,750 
$ 13.90                                      Decemb er 14, 2005             47,250                        47,250 
$ 14.44                                      Februa ry 13, 2006             65,250                        65,250 
                                                                ------------------------    ---------- ----------------  
                                                                        1,038,857                       685,057 
                                                                ------------------------    ---------- ----------------  



option plan been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates consistent with the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based 
compensation, the Company's net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the pro forma amounts indicated below:  

 

The fair value of options granted in 2003 has been estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions: risk free interest rate of 4% (2002 - 4%), expected dividend yield of nil (2002 - nil), expected 
volatility of 48% (2002 - 60%), and expected option life of 3 years (2002 - 3 years). The estimated fair value of the options is expensed over 
the option's vesting period, which is 3 years. The weighted average fair market value of options granted in 2003 was $2.13 (2002 - $4.33).  

Reconciliation of the diluted number of shares outstanding:  

 

13. COMMITMENTS  

(a) PALLADIUM SALES CONTRACT During 2000, the Company entered into a contract (the "Palladium Sales Contract") whereby the 
Company hedged the price of 100% of the palladium the Company is entitled to receive from the smelter firms. Under the Palladium Sales 
Contract the sales price is based on the monthly average spot price for palladium, as determined by the London Metal Exchange P.M. Fix, for 
the month prior to the month that the metal is received by the customer, but the price will be no less than US$325 per ounce for 100% of the 
metal received and no more than US$550 per ounce for 50% of the metal received. For the remaining 50% of the metal received, there is no 
maximum price. The Palladium Sales Contract's term commenced effective July 1, 2000 and expires on June 30, 2005. The fair value of the 
Palladium Sales Contract approximated its carrying value as at December 31, 2003.  

(B) SHERIDAN PLATINUM GROUP OF COMPANIES ("SPG") COMMITMENT The Company is required to pay a royalty to SPG equal to 
5% of the Net Cash Proceeds, as defined in the agreement until the expiration of the Lac des Iles mine leases.  
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                                                                                 2003             2002  
                                                                            -------------------------- -------  
Net income as reported                                                      $      38,378    $      15 ,082 
Stock-based compensation                                                              160              160 
                                                                            -------------------------- -------  
Pro forma net income                                                        $      38,218    $      14 ,922 
                                                                            -------------------------- -------  
Pro forma basic and diluted  income per share                               $        0.75    $        0.30 
                                                                            -------------------------- -------  

                                                      2003                   2002                  200 1 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Net income available to common shareholders     $         38,378      $          15,082       $        7,188 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding         50,763,566             50,544,634           50,3 75,690 
Effect of dilutive securities Stock options               69,338                 48,874              1 67,444 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Weighted average diluted number of shares 
     outstanding                                      50,832,904             50,593,508           50,5 43,134 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Diluted net income per share                    $           0.75      $            0.30      $          0.14 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  



(C) PLATINUM FORWARD CONTRACTS At December 31, 2003, the Company had forward sales contracts for 13,677 ounces of platinum 
at an average price of US$754 per ounce maturing at various dates through December 2004. The fair value of these forward sales contracts was 
below their carrying value by $142 as at December 31, 2003.  

(D) NICKEL SWAP CONTRACTS  
At December 31, 2003, the Company had swap contracts for 2,381,000 lbs. of nickel at an average fixed price of US $5.67 per lb. maturing at 
various dates through December 2004. The fair value of these swap contracts was below their carrying value by $2,651 as at December 31, 
2003.  

(E) ELECTRICITY SWAP CONTRACTS At December 31, 2003, the Company had electricity swap contracts on 65,755 MWh of electricity 
at a fixed price of $54.00 per MWh maturing at various dates through December 2004. As at December 31, 2003, the fair value of these swap 
contracts approximated their carrying value.  

14. REVENUE FROM METAL SALES  

 

(a) Palladium revenues include the effect of the Palladium Sales Contract (note 13(a)).  

(b) The Company entered into palladium forward contracts in 2001 for 100,800 ounces of palladium at an average price of US$922 per ounce, 
the revenue from which was fully recognized by June 30, 2003. The effect of palladium forward contracts represents the difference between the 
fixed price realized under the palladium forward contracts and the palladium price at the time of revenue recognition.  

15. CONTINGENCIES  

(a) The Company is a defendant in an action by another mining company claiming damages in the amount of $20,000, punitive and exemplary 
damages in the amount of $5,000 and a declaration that the Company held the Compania Minerales de Copan, S.A. de C.V. ("Copan") property 
in trust for the plaintiff. No provision has been made in the accounts as at December 31, 2003 or 2002 for any possible loss from this action as 
management of the Company believes it has a valid defense and it has been indemnified by SPG regarding this action. In addition, certain stock 
options are claimed to be held by employees of Copan. These options have not been included in note 12(a) as the Company has been 
indemnified by SPG regarding such matters.  
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                                                     2003                   2002                2001 
                                                --- -------------      ----------------    ------------ ----  
Palladium (a)                                $       109,443       $       101,317     $        80,925  
Palladium forward contracts (b)                       20,437                46,033              27,825  
Adjustments for mark-to-market                        (1,163)               (9,243)             (5,831 ) 
Other metals                                          63,424                38,666              18,577  
                                                --- -------------      ----------------    ------------ ----  
                                             $       192,141       $       176,773     $       121,496  
                                                --- -------------      ----------------    ------------ ----  



(b) The Company has filed a claim with its insurance company relating to losses incurred in connection with the failure of the primary crusher 
in 2002. The Company will record the effect of this insurance recovery when the proceeds are received.  

(c) From time to time, the Company is involved in other litigation, investigations, or proceedings related to claims arising out of its operations 
in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of the Company's management, these claims and lawsuits in the aggregate, even if adversely 
settled, will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.  

16. INCOME TAXES  

The provision for income and mining taxes differs from the amount that would have resulted by applying the combined Canadian Federal and 
Ontario statutory income tax rates of approximately 39%.  

 

The details of the Company's income tax expense are as follows:  

 

Future tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following temporary differences:  
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                                                                   2003               2002                2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Income tax provision using statutory income tax rat es         $    18,147         $    11,888        $      5,573 
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from: 
  Changes in income tax rates and laws                             (3,546)                 --                 -- 
  Resource allowance                                               (3,342)             (5,320)            (2,384) 
  Non-taxable portion of capital (gains) losses                    (2,908)                 --              1,389 
  Benefit of income tax losses not previously recog nized             (811)                 --             (2,200) 
  Federal large corporations taxes                                    837                 817                827 
  Ontario mining taxes                                                983               4,357              2,226 
  Other                                                            (1,206)              2,120                654 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Income tax expense                                            $     8,154       $      13,862        $      6,085 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  

                                                                   2003               2002                2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Current income tax expense: 
Income taxes                                                  $      (550)        $           --      $       830 
Mining taxes                                                          475                     --               -- 
Federal large corporations tax                                        837                    816              827 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $       762         $          816      $     1,657 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Future income tax expense: 
Income taxes                                                  $     6,884         $        8,546      $     2,228 
Mining taxes                                                          508                  4,500            2,200 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     7,392         $       13,046      $     4,428 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     8,154         $       13,862      $     6,085 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  

                                                                               2003                   2002 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Current future income tax asset: 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards                                       $            84        $         4,868 
                                                                      ---------------------- --------- -------------  
Net future tax asset, current                                         $            84        $         4,868 
                                                                      ---------------------- --------- -------------  



 

At December 31, 2003, the Company had net capital loss carry-forwards of approximately $3,700 (2002 - $5,700), which are available to 
reduce net capital gains of future years.  

17. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

(a) The net changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations are as follows:  

 

(b) Cash outflows during the year for interest and income taxes were as follows:  
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                                                                               2003                   2002 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Long-term future income tax asset: 
 
Mining interests, net                                                 $         7,472        $         8,426 
Deferred financing costs                                                        1,022                  1,823 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards                                                    --                    969 
 
Future mining tax liability                                                     2,157                     -- 
Other assets                                                                      231                     -- 
Ontario corporate minimum tax credits                                             257                     -- 
Capital loss carry-forwards                                                     1,308                  2,100 
Valuation allowance for capital loss carry-forwards                             (1,308)                (2,100) 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future income tax asset, long-term                                         11,139                 11,218 
Future income tax liability, long-term: 
Project term loan and Kaiser-Francis credit facilit y                           (1,805)                    -- 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future income tax asset, long-term                                $         9,334        $        11,218 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
 
Current future income tax liability: 
Deferred financing costs                                              $           216        $            -- 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future tax asset, current                                         $           216        $            -- 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
 
Future mining tax liability, long-term: 
Mining interests, net                                                 $        10,108        $         9,600 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future mining tax liability, long-term                            $        10,108        $         9,600 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  

                                                                   2003               2002                2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Decrease (increase) in: 
Concentrate awaiting settlement                               $     (9,298)       $      (2,778)     $     (32,825) 
Inventories and stockpiles                                           3,179                  507           (12,815) 
Accounts receivable and other assets                                   296                  943             2,992 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     (5,823)       $      (1,328)     $     (42,648) 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
 
Increase (decrease) in: 
 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                      $      1,218        $      (2,442)     $       9,679 
Taxes payable                                                         (630)              (1,599)            1,559 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $        588        $      (4,041)     $      11,238 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     (5,235)       $      (5,369)     $     (31,410) 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  

                                                                   2003               2002                2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Interest paid                                                 $      3,433        $      5,842       $       6,390 
Income taxes paid                                             $         --        $         --       $          -- 



(c) During 2003, capital assets (including plant and equipment and equipment under capital lease) were acquired at an aggregate cost of 
$11,691 (2002 - $7,093; 2001 - $117,948) of which $980 (2002 - $1,514; 2001 - $1,244) were acquired by means of capital leases.  

18. RECONCILIATION TO ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE U.S.  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, which 
differ in some respects from those in the United States. The following table presents amounts that would have been reported had the Company's 
consolidated financial statements been prepared on the basis of United States generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"):  

(Canadian funds in thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)  

 

(a) The Company capitalizes interest on major projects where direct indebtedness has occurred. Under U.S. GAAP, interest is capitalized as it 
arises from indebtedness  
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                                                                   2003                2002                2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
Statements of earnings and deficit: 
 
Net income under Canadian GAAP                              $        38,378        $       15,082      $        7,188 
Amortization of capitalized interest (a)                                (39)                  (20) o              (17) 
Concentrates and crushed and broken ore stockpiles (b)               (1,702)                 (404)              2,914 
Derivative financial instruments (c)                                 (2,867)                   74                  -- 
Reversal of asset retirement obligation under Canad ian 
GAAP (e)                                                                 --                    53                 322 
Tax effect of differences                                             1,459                   112                (879) 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
 
Net income and comprehensive income under U.S. GAAP           $       35,229        $       14,897      $        9,528 
     before cumulative impact of change in accounti ng 
     policy 
Cumulative impact of change in accounting policy fo r 
     asset retirement obligations (e)                                  (375)                   --                  -- 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
 
Net income and comprehensive income under U.S. GAAP           $       34,854        $       14,897      $        9,528 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
Basic and diluted income per share under U.S. GAAP before 
     cumulative impact of change in accounting poli cy        $         0.69        $         0.29      $         0.19 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
 
Basic and diluted income per share under U.S. GAAP           $         0.69        $         0.29      $         0.19 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
Balance sheets: 
 
Current assets (b) and (c)                                   $      124,186        $      127,731 
Mining interests (a)                                         $      247,769        $      267,143 
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles - long-term (b)            $        6,889        $        9,774 
Future tax asset, long-term                                  $        9,124        $        9,549 
Capital stock (d)                                            $      319,587        $      318,081 
Deficit                                                      $      (19,333)       $      (54,187) 



incurred, directly or indirectly, to finance development and construction activities on assets that are not yet subject to amortization or depletion. 
The current year adjustment relates entirely to the amortization of these amounts under U.S. GAAP.  

(b) Under Canadian GAAP, the cost of the Company's concentrate and crushed and broken ore stockpiles is determined on the average 
production cost and does not include an allocation of the amortization of production related assets, whereas under U.S. GAAP the cost of these 
assets should include this allocation.  

(c) Under U.S. GAAP, the Company has chosen not to designate its derivative financial instruments as hedging instruments and thus they are 
carried on the balance sheet at their fair value and any changes in fair value are being recorded to earnings in the period of the change.  

(d) Canadian GAAP allows for the reduction of the stated capital of outstanding common shares with a corresponding offset to deficit. This 
reclassification, which the Company made in 1991, is not permitted by U.S. GAAP and would result in an increase in both capital stock and 
deficit of $6,098 at December 31, 2003 and 2002.  

(e) Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted FAS 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" which requires that the fair 
value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations be recognized in the period in which they occur. A corresponding increase to the carrying 
amount of the related asset is generally recorded and amortized over the life of the asset. The amount of the liability is subject to re-
measurement at each reporting period. The cumulative effect of the change through January 1, 2003 was to increase mining assets by $6,489, 
increase the mine closure obligation to $7,019 and a one time after-tax charge to net earnings of $375. The equivalent accounting policy was 
retroactively adopted under Canadian GAAP, with restatement of prior year's financial statements (note 2). Under US GAAP, a change in 
accounting policy is adopted retroactively, without restatement of prior year's financial statements, by recording a cumulative catch-up 
adjustment through current year net income.  

(f) U.S. GAAP requires that amounts totaling 5% or more of accounts payable and accrued liabilities be identified separately. As at December 
31, 2003, these amounts were as follows: trade payables and accruals - $13,756 (2002 - $13,339); other accruals - $2,285 (2002 - $1,484).  

(g) U.S. GAAP does not permit the disclosure of subtotal of cash from operations before changes in non-cash working capital.  

(h) Effective January 1, 2003, the Company prospectively adopted FAS No. 123 "Accounting for Stock-based Compensation" as amended by 
FAS No. 148, whereby compensation expense for options granted after January 1, 2003 is measured at fair value at the grant date using the 
Black-Scholes valuation model and recognized over the remaining vesting period of the options granted. Previously, the Company, for 
purposes of preparing financial information in accordance with U.S. GAAP, accounted for its stock-based compensation plan under 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25 "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" (APB No. 25) which did not  
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result in the recognition of compensation expense. Under FAS 148, pro forma disclosure is still required for those options granted prior to 
January 1, 2003.  

Had the amortization of the fair value of options been charged to compensation expense under U.S. GAAP, the pro forma net income would be 
$36,014 and pro forma net income per share and diluted net income per share would be $0.71 (2002 net income of $12,249 and net income and 
diluted net income per share of $0.24; 2001 net income of $5,884 and net income and diluted net income per share of $0.12).  

The weighted average fair market value of options granted in 2002 was $4.33 (2001 - $5.84).  

The Company estimated the fair value of options granted in 2001 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
assumptions: risk free interest rate 4%, expected life of options of 3 years, expected volatility of the Company's share price of 71%, expected 
dividend yield of nil.  

IMPENDING ACCOUNTING CHANGES  

CANADIAN GAAP  
In 2003, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline AcG-15, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities", to provide guidance for applying the 
principles in Handbook  
Section 1590, "Subsidiaries", to certain entities. Although the CICA is contemplating amendments to the Guideline, it is expected to be 
effective for the Company's 2005 fiscal year. The Company will review AcG-15, the impact of the Guideline, if any, on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements when the CICA issues the amended Guideline.  

In 2003, the CICA finalized amendments to Accounting Guideline AcG-13, "Hedging Relationships", that clarified certain of the requirements 
in AcG-13 and provided additional application guidance. AcG-13 is applicable for the Company's 2004 fiscal year. The Company does not 
expect the adoption of this Guideline to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.  

U.S. GAAP  
In 2003, the FASB amended Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities" ("FIN 46R"). FIN 46R requires that a variable 
interest entity ("VIE") be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE's activities and/or 
is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE's residual returns. For the Company, the requirements of FIN 46R apply to VIE's created after 
January 31, 2003. For VIEs created before January 31, 2003, the requirements of FIN46R apply as of December 31, 2004 for a VIE that does 
not meet the definition of a special-purpose entity ("SPE") and as of January 1, 2004 for a VIE that is an SPE.  

Although the Company is currently reviewing FIN 46R, the impact, if any, of these pronouncements on the Company's consolidated financial 
statements has not been determined.  
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19. COMPARATIVE FIGURES  

Certain of the prior years' figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 2003.  

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

Enclosed are the Company's consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated statements of earnings and 
deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003 (collectively the "Financial Statements") and 
management's discussion and analysis of operations and financial position ("MD&A") for the Financial Statements. Certain statements 
included the Financial Statements and MD&A are forward-looking statements which are made pursuant to the "safe harbor" provisions of the 
United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. They include estimates and statements that describe the Company's future 
plans, objectives and goals, including words to the effect that the Company or management expects a stated condition or result to occur. When 
used herein, words such as "estimate", "expect", "intend", and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In 
particular, statements relating to estimated mineral reserves, cash flows, capital costs, ore production, mine life, financing, construction and 
strategic plans are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties and are subject to 
factors, many of which are beyond our control, that may cause actual results or performance to differ materially from those currently 
anticipated in such statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements include among others metal price volatility, economic and political events affecting metal supply and demand, 
fluctuations in ore grade, ore tonnes milled, geological, technical, mining or processing problems, future profitability and production, and 
availability of financing on acceptable terms. For a more comprehensive review of risk factors, please refer to the Company's most recent 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis" (enclosed) and Annual Information Form under "Risk Factors" on file with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission and Canada provincial securities regulatory authorities. Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to put 
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements 
whether as a result of new information, events or otherwise.  
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EXHIBIT 3  



NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.  
MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR FINANCIAL STATEMENT S  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 
accounting principles. Financial statements are not precise since they include certain amounts based on estimates and judgments. When 
alternative methods exist, management has chosen those it deems most appropriate in the circumstances in order to ensure that the consolidated 
financial statements are presented fairly, in all material respects, in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. The financial 
information presented elsewhere in the annual report is consistent with that in the consolidated financial statements.  

The Company maintains adequate systems of internal accounting and administrative controls. Such systems are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance that the Company's assets are appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded and that the financial information is relevant 
and reliable.  

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for financial reporting, and is 
ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving the consolidated financial statements and the accompanying management's discussion and 
analysis. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit Committee.  

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board and all of its members are non-management directors. The Audit Committee meets 
periodically with management and the external auditors to discuss internal controls, auditing matters and financial reporting issues, and to 
satisfy itself that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities. The Audit Committee also reviews the consolidated financial 
statements, management's discussion and analysis, the external auditors' report, examines the fees and expenses for audit services, and 
considers the engagement or reappointment of the external auditors. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board for its consideration 
when approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. Ernst & Young LLP, the external auditors, have full and 
free access to the Audit Committee.  

Toronto, Canada  
February 20, 2004  
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"ANDRE J. DOUCHANE"                        "GEORGE D. FAUGHT" 
-------------------------------------      -------- -----------------------------  
ANDRE J. DOUCHANE                          GEORGE D . FAUGHT 
President and CEO                          Vice Pre sident Finance, and CFO 



Auditors' Report  

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD .  

We have audited the consolidated balance sheets of North American Palladium Ltd. as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated 
statements of earnings and deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003. These financial 
statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based 
on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we plan and perform 
an audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a 
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting 
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation.  

In our opinion, these consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as at 
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 
31, 2003 in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles.  

As described in note 3(b) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company has changed its accounting policies for asset retirement 
obligations effective January 1, 2003 and has restated its provision for mine closure costs, mining interests and mine closure obligation.  

"Ernst & Young" (signed)  
Chartered Accountants  

Toronto, Canada,  
February 20, 2004.  
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                                             NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD. 
                                              CONSO LIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 
                                        (Canadian f unds in thousands of dollars) 
 
 
                                                                                              December  31 
                                                                                       2003                2002 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                                          Restated, 
                                                                                                          Note 3(b) 
ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents                                                     $         11,950     $        11,536 
Short-term investments                                                                   1,813               5,127 
Concentrate awaiting settlement, net - Note 4                                           94,610              85,312 
Inventories - Note 5                                                                     9,141               7,414 
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles                                                        6,251               9,157 
Future tax asset - Note 16                                                                  84               4,868 
Accounts receivable and other assets                                                     1,387               1,683 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                       125,236             125,097 
 
Mining interests, net - Note 6                                                         247,116             266,075 
Mine closure deposit - Note 7                                                            4,733               3,470 
Deferred financing costs                                                                 1,290               2,080 
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles                                                        5,983               7,983 
Future tax asset - Note 16                                                               9,334              11,218 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                              $        393,692     $       415,923 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                                      $         16,041     $        14,813 
Taxes payable                                                                            1,311               1,940 
Future tax liability - Note 16                                                             216                   - 
Current portion of obligations under capital leases  - Note 8                             1,070               1,127 
Current portion of project term loan - Note 9                                           34,538              51,083 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                        53,176              68,963 
 
Mine closure obligation - Note 3(b)                                                      7,300               7,019 
Obligations under capital leases - Note 8                                                1,015               1,024 
Project term loan - Note 9                                                               7,272              51,083 
Kaiser-Francis credit facility - Note 10                                                14,866              18,163 
Future tax liability - Note 16                                                          10,108               9,600 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                                        93,737             155,852 
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
Capital stock - Note 12                                                                313,489             311,983 
Deficit                                                                                (13,534)            (51,912) 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
Total shareholders' equity                                                             299,955             260,071 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
                                                                              $        393,692     $       415,923 
                                                                                  ----------------    ----------------  
Commitments - Note 13 
Contingencies - Note 15 
 
See accompanying notes 
On Behalf of the Board 
"MICHAEL P. AMSDEN" (SIGNED)                                    "GREG VAN STAVEREN" (SIGNED) 
--------------------------------------------------- ------       -------------------------------------- ----------------  
MICHAEL P. AMSDEN                                               GREG VAN STAVEREN 
Director                                                        Director 



 

See accompanying notes  
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                                             NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD. 
                                    CONSOLIDATED ST ATEMENTS OF EARNINGS AND DEFICIT 
                      (Canadian funds in thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts) 
 
 
                                                                             Year ended December 31 
                                                                    2003                2002                2001 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                                     Restated,           Restated, 
                                                                                     Note 3(b)           Note 3(b) 
REVENUE FROM METAL SALES - Note 14                          $      192,141      $       176,773    $        121,496 
Deduct: smelter treatment, refining and freight cos ts              (19,048)             (16,909)            (11,140) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Net revenue from mining operations                                 173,093              159,864             110,356 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
OPERATING EXPENSES 
Production costs including overhead                                103,654              100,599              66,405 
Amortization - Note 6(b)                                            28,590               20,190              11,515 
Administrative expenses                                              3,788                4,212               4,112 
Provision for mine closure costs - Note 3(b)                           921                  587                 637 
Write-down of mining interests - Note 6(d)                           2,315                   --               4,636 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Total operating expenses                                           139,268              125,588              87,305 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
INCOME FROM MINING OPERATIONS                                       33,825               34,276              23,051 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
OTHER INCOME (EXPENSES) 
Interest income                                                        474                  663               1,560 
Loss on disposal of capital assets                                    (788)                 (99)                (14) 
Interest                                                               (17)                (433)               (226) 
Interest on long-term debt - Notes 9 and 10                         (3,158)              (5,405)             (3,406) 
Exploration expense                                                 (1,942)                (850)               (927) 
Foreign exchange gain (loss)                                        18,138                  792              (6,765) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Total other income (expenses)                                       12,707               (5,332)             (9,778) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
INCOME BEFORE INCOME TAXES                                          46,532               28,944              13,273 
Provision for income taxes - Note 16                                 8,154               13,862               6,085 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
NET INCOME FOR THE YEAR                                             38,378               15,082               7,188 
 
Deficit, beginning of year                                         (51,912)             (66,994)            (74,182) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Deficit, end of year                                        $      (13,534)     $       (51,912)   $        (66,994) 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
Net income per share                                        $         0.76      $          0.30    $           0.14 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
 
Diluted net income per share - Note 12(b)                   $         0.75      $          0.30    $           0.14 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - bas ic           50,763,566           50,544,634          50,375,690 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding - dil uted - 
      Note 12(b)                                                50,832,904           50,593,508          50,543,134 
                                                               ----------------    ---------------     ---------------  



 

See accompanying notes  
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                                             NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD. 
                                         CONSOLIDAT ED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
                                        (Canadian f unds in thousands of dollars) 
 
 
                                                                             Year ended December 31 
                                                                    2003                2002                2001 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                                     Restated,           Restated, 
                                                                                     Note 3(b)           Note 3(b) 
CASH PROVIDED BY (USED IN) 
OPERATIONS 
Net income for the year                                     $        38,378    $         15,082    $          7,188 
Operating items not involving cash 
    Future income tax expense                                         7,392              13,046               4,428 
    Amortization                                                     28,590              20,190              11,515 
    Accrued interest on mine closure deposit                            (63)                (38)               (102) 
    Write-down of mining interests                                    2,315                  --               4,636 
    Foreign exchange loss (gain)                                    (18,519)             (1,494)              6,037 
    Loss on disposal of capital assets                                  788                  99                  14 
    Provision for mine closure costs                                    921                 587                 637 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                     59,802              47,472              34,353 
 
Changes in non-cash working capital - Note 17(a)                     (5,235)             (5,369)            (31,410) 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                     54,567              42,103               2,943 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
Repayment of project term loan                                      (45,134)            (33,233)             (6,724) 
Issuance of common shares                                             1,506               1,199               1,950 
Mine closure deposit                                                 (1,200)             (1,200)             (1,100) 
Obligations under capital leases                                     (1,046)             (1,419)             (1,043) 
Notes payable - Kaiser-Francis Oil Company                               --              10,372               7,819 
Deferred financing costs                                                 --                  --                (276) 
Increase in project term loan                                            --                  --              78,513 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                    (45,874)            (24,281)             79,139 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Short-term investments                                                3,314                (128)             35,453 
Additions to plant and equipment                                    (10,711)             (5,579)           (116,704) 
Mining claims, exploration and development costs                       (996)             (2,867)             (3,590) 
Proceeds on disposal of plant and equipment                             114                 513                  31 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
                                                                     (8,279)             (8,061)            (84,810) 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents                        414               9,761              (2,728) 
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year                         11,536               1,775               4,503 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year                      $        11,950    $         11,536    $          1,775 
                                                               ---------------     ---------------     ---------------  



NORTH AMERICAN PALLADIUM LTD.  
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  

for the years ended December 31, 2003, 2002 and 2001  

 
(Canadian funds in thousands of dollars)  

1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION  

North American Palladium Ltd. ("NAP" or "the Company") is a Canadian company in the business of exploring and mining Platinum Group 
Metals ("PGMs") and certain base and precious metals. Its principal asset is the Lac des Iles mine located in the Thunder Bay District in 
Ontario. The Company operates in one geographical area, Canada, and in one operating segment, mining.  

The Company's financial position and operating results are directly affected by the market price of the PGMs in relation to the Company's 
production costs. The prices of PGMs and by-product metals (palladium, platinum, gold, copper and nickel) fluctuate widely and are affected 
by numerous factors beyond the Company's control. The Company is under long-term contracts with two smelting firms for the sale of its 
concentrates. During 2000 the Company entered into a long-term palladium sales agreement, which expires on June 30, 2005, with a major 
automotive manufacturer to hedge the sale of all of its palladium production (note 13(a)).  

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles and, except 
as discussed in note 18, conform in all material respects with United States generally accepted accounting principles. The more significant 
accounting policies are summarized as follows:  

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION  

These consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsidiary, Lac des Iles Mines Ltd. 
("LDI").  

REVENUE AND CONCENTRATE AWAITING SETTLEMENT  

All revenue, including by-product metals is recognized net of royalties upon the delivery of concentrate to the third-party smelter. Concentrate 
awaiting settlement at the smelter is recorded at net realizable value less estimated smelting, refining and transportation costs. Final prices for 
concentrate awaiting settlement are determined up to seven months after delivery to the smelter. Revaluations of net realizable value are 
included in revenue at each reporting period and are adjusted for the effects of the sales contracts with the smelters and hedging instruments. 
Although the Company sold its metals during 2003 to a limited number of customers, the Company is not economically dependent upon them 
as there are other markets throughout the world for the Company's metals.  

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

The Company enters into forward commodity sales contracts from time to time to hedge the effect of changes in the prices of metals it 
produces on the Company's revenues (notes 13(a), (c) and (d)). Gains and losses on derivative financial instruments used to mitigate metal 
price risk are recognized in revenue from metal sales (note 14) when the hedged transaction occurs.  

From time to time the Company enters into foreign exchange forward sales contracts to manage the effect of fluctuations in the value of 
committed U.S. dollar denominated revenues.  
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For those forward exchange contracts designated by the Company as hedges, a gain or loss is recognized in metal sales when the hedged 
transaction occurs. Those foreign exchange forward sales contracts not designated by the Company as hedges are marked to market as at the 
balance sheet date and the resultant gains or losses are included in earnings for the period. The fair value of the Company's derivative financial 
instruments is determined based on forward prices supplied by knowledgeable, independent third parties.  

The Company uses electricity swap contracts to hedge the effects of price fluctuations in its electricity purchase requirements in Ontario (note 
13(e). The net swap settlements are recognized in the same period as the hedged transaction.  

The Company does not hold financial instruments or derivative financial instruments for trading purposes. Cash flows arising in respect of 
hedging transactions are recognized under cash flows from operating activities.  

The Company does not consider the credit risk associated with its financial instruments to be significant. Foreign currency contracts and 
commodity hedge contracts are maintained with credit-worthy counter-parties, and the Company does not anticipate that any counter-party will 
fail to meet its obligations.  

CONCENTRATE, CRUSHED AND BROKEN ORE STOCKPILES AND SUPPLIES INVENTORIES  

Concentrate and crushed and broken ore stockpiles are valued at the lower of average production cost and net realizable value. Average 
production cost does not include an allocation of the amortization of production related assets. Crushed and broken ore stockpiles represent 
course ore that has been extracted from the mine and is available for further processing. Stockpile tonnages are verified by periodic surveys. 
The crushed and broken ore stockpiles contain a minimum grade of 1.1 grams of palladium per tonne, which is the cut-off grade used to 
determine mineral reserves and resources. The amount of stockpiled ore that is not expected to be processed within one year is shown as a 
long-term asset. Supplies inventory is valued at the lower of average direct acquisition cost and replacement cost.  

MINING INTERESTS  

Plant and equipment are recorded at cost with amortization generally provided either on the unit-of-production method over the proven and 
probable reserves to which they relate or on a straight-line method over their estimated useful lives of seven years.  

The Company leases certain equipment under capital leases. These leases are capitalized based on the lower of fair market value and the 
present value of future minimum lease payments. The corresponding liabilities are recorded as obligations under capital leases. This equipment 
is being amortized on the same basis as described above.  

Mining leases and claims and royalty interests are recorded at cost and are amortized on the unit-of-production method over the proven and 
probable reserves.  

Exploration and development costs relating to properties are charged to earnings in the year in which they are incurred. When it is determined 
that a mining property can be economically developed as a result of established proven and probable reserves, future development and 
exploration expenditures are capitalized. Determination as to reserve potential is based on the results of feasibility studies, which indicate 
whether production from a property is economically feasible. Initial feasibility studies are optimized once drilling has confirmed the shape, 
grades and continuity of the mineralization. Upon commencement of the commercial production of a development project these costs are 
amortized using the unit-of-production method over the proven and probable reserves. Deferred expenditures, net of salvage values, relating to 
a property that is abandoned or considered uneconomic for the foreseeable future are written off.  
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Each year, the Company reviews mining plans for the remaining life of each property. Significant changes in the mine plan can occur as a 
result of mining experience, new discoveries, changes in mining methods and rates, process changes, investments in new equipment and 
technology and other factors. Based on year-end ore reserves and the current mine plan, the Company reviews annually its accounting estimates 
and makes adjustments accordingly.  

The Company assesses long-lived assets for recoverability whenever indicators of impairment exist. When the carrying value of a long-lived 
asset is less than its net recoverable value as determined on an undiscounted basis, an impairment loss is recognized to the extent that its fair 
value, measured as the discounted cash flows over the life of the asset. Future cash flows are estimated based on quantities of recoverable 
minerals, expected palladium and other commodity prices (considering current and historical prices, price trends and related factors), 
production levels and cash costs of production and capital, all based on detailed engineering life-of-mine plans. The term "recoverable 
minerals" refers to the estimated amount of palladium and other commodities that will be obtained from proven and probable reserves after 
taking into account losses during ore processing and treatment. Assumptions underlying future cash flow estimates are subject to risk and 
uncertainty.  

ASSET RETIREMENT OBLIGATIONS  

Asset retirement obligations are recognized when incurred and recorded as liabilities at fair value. The amount of the liability is subject to re-
measurement at each reporting period. The liability is accreted over time through periodic charges to earnings. In addition, the asset retirement 
cost is capitalized as part of mining interests and amortized over the estimated life of the mine. In determining the estimated obligation and 
asset, the total undiscounted cash flows estimated were approximately $5.8 million to $9.8 million, the majority of which is to be paid at the 
end of the mine life. The estimated asset retirement obligation may change materially based on future changes in operations, costs of 
reclamation and closure activities, and regulatory requirements.  

STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION PLAN  

The Company has a stock-based compensation plan, which is described in note 12(a). Effective January 1, 2003, the Company prospectively 
adopted the fair value method of accounting for stock-based compensation in accordance with the recommendations issued by The Canadian 
Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA"). For options granted from January 1, 2002 to December 31, 2002, the Company elected to not 
recognize compensation expense when stock options are issued to employees. Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of stock 
options or purchase of stock is credited to share capital.  

TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY  

Transactions recorded in United States dollars have been translated into Canadian dollars as follows:  

1. Monetary items at the rate prevailing at the consolidated balance sheet dates;  
2. Non-monetary items at the historical exchange rate; and  
3. Revenue and expenses at the actual rate in effect during the applicable accounting period.  

All resulting foreign exchange gains and losses are recorded in the consolidated statements of earnings and deficit.  
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INCOME TAXES  

The Company follows the liability method of tax allocation for accounting for income taxes. Under the liability method of tax allocation, future 
tax assets and liabilities are determined based on differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabilities and are 
measured using the substantively enacted tax rates and laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected to reverse. The effect on 
future tax liabilities and assets of a change in tax rates is recognized in income in the period that the change occurs.  

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on account, demand deposits and short-term investments with original maturities of three months or 
less and are stated at cost. Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2003 include cash equivalents of nil (2002 - $4,738).  

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

The carrying amounts of all financial instruments on the balance sheet approximate fair value due to their short-term maturities or variable 
interest rates.  

USE OF ESTIMATES  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the 
financial statements and that also affect the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reported year. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.  

3. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES  

(a) Stock-based compensation  

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company changed its method of accounting for stock options from the intrinsic value method to one that 
recognizes as an expense the cost of stock-based compensation based on the estimated fair value of new stock options granted to employees 
and directors. The fair value of each stock option granted is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model. 
As a result of this change in accounting policy, which was applied prospectively, an expense of $138 was recorded in 2003 to reflect the fair 
value of stock options granted to employees and directors in 2003.  

(b) Asset retirement obligations  

Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted a new accounting standard of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants ("CICA") for 
asset retirement obligations which harmonizes the accounting with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the U.S. This standard 
significantly changed the method of accounting for future site restoration costs. Under this new standard, asset retirement obligations are 
recognized when incurred and recorded as liabilities at fair value. The amount of the liability is subject to re-measurement at each reporting 
period. The liability is accreted over time through periodic charges to earnings. In addition, the asset retirement cost is capitalized as part of the 
asset's carrying value and amortized over the estimated life of the mine. This change in accounting policy was applied  
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retroactively and, accordingly, the consolidated financial statements of prior periods were restated. As a result of this change, certain balance 
sheet accounts as of December 31, 2002 were restated as follows: mining interests increased by $6,489 and the mine closure obligation 
increased to $7,019. An expense of $921 was recorded in 2003 for accretion of the mine closure obligation and amortization for asset 
retirements. This accounting policy change increased the provision for mine closure costs by $53 in 2002 (reduced net income per share - nil) 
and $322 in 2001 (reduced net income per share - $0.01).  

4. CONCENTRATE AWAITING SETTLEMENT  

Concentrate awaiting settlement is comprised of:  

 

The gross value of concentrate awaiting settlement represents the value of all PGMs and base metals from production shipped to and received 
by the third-party smelters between June and December 2003, including 147,570 ounces of palladium (2002 - between July and December 
2002, including 93,619 ounces of palladium).  

All of the concentrate awaiting settlement is from two domestic customers at December 31, 2003 (2002 - two domestic customers). No reserves 
for doubtful accounts have been established. In the opinion of management, full realization will occur on all such receivables.  

5. INVENTORIES  

Inventories consist of the following:  
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                                                               2003                 2002 
                                                         ----------------      --------------  
Concentrate awaiting settlement, gross               $         104,880    $         92,533 
Refining and smelter treatment charges                         (10,270)             (7,221) 
 
                                                         ----------------      --------------  
Concentrate awaiting settlement, net                 $          94,610    $         85,312 
                                                         ----------------      --------------  

                                                                2003                 2002 
                                                          ----------------      --------------  
Concentrate                                           $           1,669     $           670 
Supplies                                                          7,472               6,744 
                                                          ----------------      --------------  
                                                      $           9,141    $          7,414 
                                                          ----------------      --------------  



6. MINING INTERESTS  

(a) Mining interests are comprised of the following:  

 

(b) Amortization expense is comprised of:  

 

(c) During 2003, the Company capitalized interest of nil (2002 - nil; 2001 - $3,190).  

(d) The Company recorded a write-down of $2,315 in 2003 pertaining to the retirement of a damaged primary crusher and $4,636 in 2001 when 
plant and equipment was removed from service with the commissioning of the new mill.  

7. MINE CLOSURE PLAN  

The Company, in conjunction with the Ontario Ministry of Northern Development and Mines (the "Ministry"), has established a trust fund (the 
"Fund") pursuant to the Company's mine closure plan. The mine closure plan calls for a total amount of $7,802 to be accumulated in the Fund 
in order to allow for the eventual clean-up and restoration of the mine site.  

Commencing in February 2001, the Fund, controlled by the Ministry, started to accumulate through monthly deposits of $100. At December 
31, 2003, the Company had $4,733 (2002 - $3,470) on deposit with the Ministry including accrued interest of $203. The funds on deposit bear 
interest at current short-term deposit rates and will be returned to the Company once the mine closure is completed.  

-11-  

                                                                                     2003               2002 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
Plant and equipment, at cost                                                  $     322,966    $       313,405 
Accumulated amortization                                                            108,972             82,718 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
                                                                                    213,994            230,687 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
 
Equipment under capital lease, at cost                                                3,758              3,299 
Accumulated amortization                                                              1,056                311 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
                                                                                      2,702              2,988 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
 
Mining leases and claims, royalty interest, explora tion and 
development, at cost                                                                 82,353             81,357 
Accumulated amortization                                                             51,933             48,957 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
                                                                                     30,420             32,400 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  
Mining interests, net                                                         $     247,116    $       266,075 
                                                                                 -------------     --- -----------  

                                                                      2003            2002             2001 
                                                                  ------------    -----------    ----- ----------  
Capital assets (including plant and equipment, and            $        24,746  $      17,505  $        10,268 
  equipment under capital lease) 
 
Mining leases and claims, royalty interest, explora tion and 
  development costs                                                     3,054          1,895              852 
Deferred financing costs                                                  790            790              395 
                                                                  ------------    -----------    ----- ----------  
                                                              $        28,590  $      20,190  $        11,515 
                                                                  ------------    -----------    ----- ----------  



8. LEASE OBLIGATIONS  

The following is a schedule of future minimum lease payments under capital leases together with the present value of the net minimum lease 
payments:  

 

9. PROJECT TERM LOAN  

On June 27, 2000, the Company received a US$90,000 non-revolving term credit facility, which was amended on July 11, 2002. The credit 
facility financed part of the capital costs, working capital and interest during construction of the expansion project. Outstanding loans bear 
interest or stamping fees based upon banker's acceptances or LIBOR rates plus a margin of 1 3/4%.  

In return for granting the loan the lender received a secured interest in all of the Company's existing and future assets. In addition, the lender 
received an assignment of all material agreements including the palladium sales contract (note 13(a)) and a pledge of the shares of LDI.  

Kaiser-Francis Oil Company ("Kaiser-Francis"), the majority shareholder of the Company, and its shareholders have guaranteed the Company's 
obligations under the credit facility in return for a fee of 0.5% per annum of amounts drawn under the loan facility. Amounts paid to Kaiser-
Francis in connection with this guarantee were $338 (2002 - $605; 2001 - $531).  

Amounts drawn under the credit facility are required to be repaid in quarterly installments. At December 31, 2003, there were five remaining 
installment payments as follows: US$7,031 for each of the first three quarters of 2004 and US$5,625 for the last quarter of 2004 and the first 
quarter of 2005. The final maturity date of the credit facility is March 31, 2005.  

The Company has the right to prepay any amount outstanding under the credit facility, without penalty, and in some circumstances may be 
required to make prepayments equal to the amount of insurance proceeds received in connection with a major loss or 66% of excess cash flow, 
which is defined as cash flow less payments of principal and interest and payments to the debt service reserve amount.  

The credit facility includes customary representations, warranties and covenants, including a covenant by the Company not to pay dividends or 
make any other payment to shareholders while the loan is outstanding. The credit facility also provides for customary events of default, 
including default of performance under a material agreement or debt, as well as if a party other than Kaiser-Francis acquires more than 40% of 
the Company, or upon the death of Mr. Kaiser the controlling shareholder of Kaiser-Francis.  
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                                                                                2003                 2 002 
                                                                           ----------------      ----- ---------  
2003                                                                   $              -     $         1,226 
2004                                                                              1,098                 465 
2005                                                                                620                 613 
2006                                                                                257                   - 
2007                                                                                171                   - 
                                                                           ----------------      ----- ---------  
Total minimum lease payments                                                      2,146               2,304 
 
 
Amounts representing interest rates from 3.62 % - 7 .7%                               61                 153 
                                                                           ----------------      ----- ---------  
Present value of minimum lease payments                                $          2,085     $         2,151 
Less current portion                                                   $          1,070     $         1,127 
                                                                           ----------------      ----- ---------  
Long-term liabilities                                                  $          1,015     $         1,024 
                                                                           ----------------      ----- ---------  



10. KAISER-FRANCIS CREDIT FACILITY  

On December 13, 2001, the Company entered into a US$20,000 non-revolving credit facility with Kaiser-Francis. The loan was used to finance 
the Company's working capital requirements. The loan bears interest based upon the 30-day LIBOR rate plus 2.25%. The final maturity date of 
the loan is May 31, 2005. Amounts not drawn under the loan are subject to a standby fee payable quarterly at 0.125% per annum. The 
Company paid on closing a commitment fee of 0.75% of the total commitment (US$150). In connection with the loan, the Company has 
granted Kaiser-Francis security interests in all of the assets of the Company and a pledge of the LDI shares. The security interests and pledge of 
LDI shares are subordinated to the security interests of the project term loan facility. As at December 31, 2003, the outstanding loan was 
US$11,500 (2002 - US$11,500).  

The loan agreement includes customary representations, warranties and covenants, including a covenant by the Company not to pay dividends 
or make any other payment to shareholders while the loan is outstanding. The loan agreement also provides for customary events of default.  

11. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND COMMITMENTS  

In addition to the related party transactions with Kaiser-Francis disclosed in notes 9 and 10, the Company has completed the following related 
party transactions:  

(a) On January 1, 1999, the Company entered into a farm-in agreement with a mining company of which one of the Company's directors is an 
officer and director. Under the agreement, the Company earned the right to a 100% interest in six mining claims in the vicinity of the Lac des 
Iles property by making payments to the optionor totaling $260 and by conducting exploration work in the amount of $135 by December 31, 
2000. The optionor retained a 2% net smelter royalty on the farm-in claim property.  

(b) In 2003, a director of the Company received a fee of $400 (2002 - $412; 2001 - $166) in connection with the negotiations related to the 
palladium sales contract entered into by the Company in 2000 (note 13(a)). The contract was made prior to such person becoming a director of 
the Company. A second director received a fee of nil (2002 - nil; 2001 - $33) in connection with consulting services provided to the Company.  

12. CAPITAL STOCK  

The authorized capital stock of the Company consists of an unlimited number of common shares and an unlimited number of special shares, 
issuable in series, including 10,000,000 Series "A" preferred shares.  

(a) COMMON SHARES The changes in issued common share capital for the year are summarized below:  
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(b) GROUP REGISTERED RETIREMENT SAVINGS PLAN The Company has arranged a group registered retirement savings plan, which 
all employees can participate in at their option. The Company is required to make matching contributions to a maximum of $5 per employee 
per annum. The Company matching contribution can be made either in cash or treasury shares of the company. During 2003 the Company 
contributed 190,605 shares at a stated capital of $905 (2002 - 84,753 shares at a stated capital of $709; 2001 - 43,503 shares at a stated capital 
of $475).  

(c) PRIVATE PLACEMENT On December 22, 2003, the Company completed a private placement of 43,328 flow through common shares. 
The gross proceeds of $500 must be spent on Canadian exploration expenses as defined in section 66 of the Income Tax Act (Canada) by 
December 31, 2004.  

(d) CORPORATE STOCK OPTION PLAN The Company has adopted, and the shareholders have approved, the ongoing 1995 Corporate 
Stock Option Plan (the "Plan"), under which eligible directors, officers, employees and consultants of the Company are entitled to receive 
options to acquire common shares. The Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee, a subcommittee of the Board of Directors, which 
will determine the number of options to be issued, the exercise price (which may not be lower than the closing price of the Company's common 
shares on the Toronto Stock Exchange (TSX) on the day prior to the date of grant) and expiration dates of each option, the extent to which each 
option is exercisable provided that the term of an option shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant, as well as establishing a limited time 
period should the optionee cease to be an "Eligible Person" as set forth in the conditions of the Plan. Options granted since December 2001 vest 
as to 1/3 on each of the first three anniversary dates of the date of grant. Prior to December 2001, options granted under the Plan vested as to 
1/3 on the date of grant and 1/3 on each of the first two anniversary dates.  

The maximum number of common shares subject to option shall not exceed 2,700,000, being approximately 5.3% of the outstanding common 
shares or such greater number of common shares as may be determined by the Board of Directors, and approved if required, by the 
shareholders of the Company and by any relevant stock exchange or other regulatory authority. As at December 31, 2003, 591,127 options 
were available to be granted under the Plan.  
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                                                     2003                       2002                        2001 
                                           -------- ----------------- --------------------------- ----- --------------------  
 
                                                 Sh ares       Amount         Shares       Amount       Shares      Amount 
Common shares issued, beginning of year      50,647 ,955     $311,983     50,447,630     $310,784   50, 028,772   $ 308,834 
Common shares issued 
    Pursuant to stock options exercised          13 ,450          101        115,572          490      375,355       1,475 
    To Group Registered Retirement 
      Savings Plan participants                 190 ,605          905         84,753          709       43,503         475 
    Private  placement                           43 ,328          500             --           --           --          -- 
                                           -------- ----------------- --------------------------- ----- --------------------  
Common shares issued, end of year            50,895 ,338     $313,489     50,647,955   $311,983     50, 447,630   $ 310,784 
                                           -------- ----------------- --------------------------- ----- --------------------  



The following summary sets out the activity in outstanding common share purchase options:  

 

The following table summarizes information about the Company's stock options outstanding at December 31, 2003 (see also note 15(a):  

 

The Company has reserved for issuance 1,038,857 common shares in the event that these options are exercised.  

Prior to January 1, 2003, the Company did not recognize compensation expense for stock options. Had compensation expense for options 
granted in 2002 under the Company's stock option plan been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates consistent with the fair value 
based method of accounting for stock-based compensation, the Company's net income and earnings per share would have been reduced to the 
pro forma amounts indicated below:  
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                                                              2003                               2002 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- --------------  
                                                                        Weighted-                         Weighted- 
                                                                          Average                           Average 
                                                                         Exercise                          Exercise 
                                                    Shares                  Price          Shares             Price 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- --------------  
Outstanding, beginning of year                    1 ,066,939      $         11.04         1,402,278    $       10.74 
Granted                                             258,000                 3.71           148,000            10.01 
Exercised                                           (13,450)                7.50          (115,572)            4.24 
Cancelled                                          (272,632)                1.15          (367,767)           11.62 
                                               ---- -----------      --------------------------------     -----------  
Grand total                                       1 ,038,857      $          9.24         1,066,939    $       11.04 
                                               ---- -----------      --------------------------------     -----------  
 
Options exercisable at end of year                  685,057      $         11.27           753,855    $       11.02 
                                               ---- -----------      --------------------------------     -----------  

       Exercise Price                   Expiry Date s            Options Outstanding at       Options E xercisable at 
                                                                     Dec. 31, 2003                Dec.  31, 2003 
--------------------------------------------------- --------------------------------------------------- ----------------  
$ 3.42                                           Ap ril 7, 2011            180,500                            -- 
$ 3.70                                           Ap ril 1, 2011             50,000                            -- 
$ 4.75                                       Februa ry 27, 2011              7,500                            -- 
$ 5.92                                       Septem ber 2, 2011             20,000                            -- 
$ 7.50                                        Octob er 23, 2006             24,217                        24,217 
$ 7.89                                       Decemb er 12, 2009             59,400                        39,600 
$ 8.40                                           Ma rch 3, 2005             75,000                        75,000 
$ 9.30                                           Ju ly 27, 2005            126,983                       126,983 
$ 9.40                                          Mar ch 15, 2005             26,839                        26,839 
$ 9.70                                        Novem ber 6, 2005             24,168                        24,168 
$ 10.01                                           J une 6, 2010            114,000                        38,000 
$ 13.55                                           J une 6, 2006            217,750                       217,750 
$ 13.90                                      Decemb er 14, 2005             47,250                        47,250 
$ 14.44                                      Februa ry 13, 2006             65,250                        65,250 
                                                                ------------------------    ---------- ----------------  
                                                                        1,038,857                       685,057 
                                                                ------------------------    ---------- ----------------  

                                                          2003             2002 
                                                  - --------------------------------  
Net income as reported                            $       38,378    $      15,082 
Stock-based compensation                                    160              160 
                                                  - --------------------------------  
Pro forma net income                              $       38,218    $      14,922 
                                                  - --------------------------------  
Pro forma basic and diluted  income per share     $         0.75    $        0.30 
                                                  - --------------------------------  



The fair value of options granted in 2003 has been estimated at the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model with the 
following weighted average assumptions: risk free interest rate of 4% (2002 - 4%), expected dividend yield of nil (2002 - nil), expected 
volatility of 48% (2002 - 60%), and expected option life of 3 years (2002 - 3 years). The estimated fair value of the options is expensed over 
the option's vesting period, which is 3 years. The weighted average fair market value of options granted in 2003 was $2.13 (2002 - $4.33).  

 

13. COMMITMENTS  

(a) PALLADIUM SALES CONTRACT During 2000, the Company entered into a contract (the "Palladium Sales Contract") whereby the 
Company hedged the price of 100% of the palladium the Company is entitled to receive from the smelter firms. Under the Palladium Sales 
Contract the sales price is based on the monthly average spot price for palladium, as determined by the London Metal Exchange P.M. Fix, for 
the month prior to the month that the metal is received by the customer, but the price will be no less than US$325 per ounce for 100% of the 
metal received and no more than US$550 per ounce for 50% of the metal received. For the remaining 50% of the metal received, there is no 
maximum price. The Palladium Sales Contract's term commenced effective July 1, 2000 and expires on June 30, 2005. The fair value of the 
Palladium Sales Contract approximated its carrying value as at December 31, 2003.  

(B) SHERIDAN PLATINUM GROUP OF COMPANIES ("SPG") COMMITMENT The Company is required to pay a royalty to SPG equal to 
5% of the Net Cash Proceeds, as defined in the agreement until the expiration of the Lac des Iles mine leases.  

(C) PLATINUM FORWARD CONTRACTS At December 31, 2003, the Company had forward sales contracts for 13,677 ounces of platinum 
at an average price of US$754 per ounce maturing at various dates through December 2004. The fair value of these forward sales contracts was 
below their carrying value by $142 as at December 31, 2003.  

(D) NICKEL SWAP CONTRACTS  
At December 31, 2003, the Company had swap contracts for 2,381,000 lbs. of nickel at an average fixed price of US $5.67 per lb.  

maturing at various dates through  
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        Reconciliation of the diluted number of sha res outstanding: 
 
                                                      2003                  2002                 2001 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Net income available to common shareholders    $         38,378      $          15,082       $        7,188 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Weighted average number of shares outstanding        50,763,566             50,544,634           50,37 5,690 
Effect of dilutive securities 
   Stock options                                         69,338                 48,874              16 7,444 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Weighted average diluted number of shares 
     outstanding                                     50,832,904             50,593,508           50,54 3,134 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  
Diluted net income per share                   $           0.75      $            0.30      $          0.14 
                                               ---- --------------------------------------------------- ----------  



December 2004. The fair value of these swap contracts was below their carrying value by $2,651 as at December 31, 2003.  

(E) ELECTRICITY SWAP CONTRACTS At December 31, 2003, the Company had electricity swap contracts on 65,755 MWh of electricity 
at a fixed price of $54.00 per MWh maturing at various dates through December 2004. As at December 31, 2003, the fair value of these swap 
contracts approximated their carrying value.  

14. REVENUE FROM METAL SALES  

 

(a) Palladium revenues include the effect of the Palladium Sales Contract (note 13(a)).  

(b) The Company entered into palladium forward contracts in 2001 for 100,800 ounces of palladium at an average price of US$922 per ounce, 
the revenue from which was fully recognized by June 30, 2003. The effect of palladium forward contracts represents the difference between the 
fixed price realized under the palladium forward contracts and the palladium price at the time of revenue recognition.  

15. CONTINGENCIES  

(a) The Company is a defendant in an action by another mining company claiming damages in the amount of $20,000, punitive and exemplary 
damages in the amount of $5,000 and a declaration that the Company held the Compania Minerales de Copan, S.A. de C.V. ("Copan") property 
in trust for the plaintiff. No provision has been made in the accounts as at December 31, 2003 or 2002 for any possible loss from this action as 
management of the Company believes it has a valid defense and it has been indemnified by SPG regarding this action. In addition, certain stock 
options are claimed to be held by employees of Copan. These options have not been included in note 12(a) as the Company has been 
indemnified by SPG regarding such matters.  

(b) The Company has filed a claim with its insurance company relating to losses incurred in connection with the failure of the primary crusher 
in 2002. The Company will record the effect of this insurance recovery when the proceeds are received.  

(c) From time to time, the Company is involved in other litigation, investigations, or proceedings related to claims arising out of its operations 
in the ordinary course of business. In the opinion of the Company's management, these claims and lawsuits in the aggregate, even if adversely 
settled, will not have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.  
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                                                      2003                  2002                 2001 
                                                --- -------------      ----------------    ------------ ----  
Palladium (a)                                $       109,443       $       101,317     $        80,925  
Palladium forward contracts (b)                       20,437                46,033              27,825  
Adjustments for mark-to-market                        (1,163)               (9,243)             (5,831 ) 
Other metals                                          63,424                38,666              18,577  
                                                --- -------------      ----------------    ------------ ----  
                                             $       192,141       $       176,773     $       121,496  
                                                --- -------------      ----------------    ------------ ----  



16. INCOME TAXES  

The provision for income and mining taxes differs from the amount that would have resulted by applying the combined Canadian Federal and 
Ontario statutory income tax rates of approximately 39%.  

 

The details of the Company's income tax expense are as follows:  

 

Future tax assets (liabilities) consist of the following temporary differences:  
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                                                                   2003               2002                2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Income tax provision using statutory income tax rat es         $    18,147         $    11,888        $      5,573 
Increase (decrease) in taxes resulting from: 
  Changes in income tax rates and laws                             (3,546)                 --                 -- 
  Resource allowance                                               (3,342)             (5,320)            (2,384) 
  Non-taxable portion of capital (gains) losses                    (2,908)                 --              1,389 
  Benefit of income tax losses not previously recog nized             (811)                 --             (2,200) 
  Federal large corporations taxes                                    837                 817                827 
  Ontario mining taxes                                                983               4,357              2,226 
  Other                                                            (1,206)              2,120                654 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Income tax expense                                            $     8,154       $      13,862        $      6,085 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  

                                                                   2003               2002               2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Current income tax expense: 
Income taxes                                                  $      (550)        $           --      $       830 
Mining taxes                                                          475                     --               -- 
Federal large corporations tax                                        837                    816              827 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $       762         $          816      $     1,657 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Future income tax expense: 
Income taxes                                                  $     6,884         $        8,546      $     2,228 
Mining taxes                                                          508                  4,500            2,200 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     7,392         $       13,046      $     4,428 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     8,154         $       13,862      $     6,085 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  

                                                                               2003                  2 002 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Current future income tax asset: 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards                                       $            84        $         4,868 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future tax asset, current                                         $            84        $         4,868 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
 
Long-term future income tax asset: 
Mining interests, net                                                 $         7,472        $         8,426 
Deferred financing costs                                                        1,022                  1,823 
Non-capital loss carry-forwards                                                    --                    969 
 
Future mining tax liability                                                     2,157                     -- 
Other assets                                                                      231                     -- 
Ontario corporate minimum tax credits                                             257                     -- 
Capital loss carry-forwards                                                     1,308                  2,100 
Valuation allowance for capital loss carry-forwards                             (1,308)                (2,100) 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  



 

At December 31, 2003, the Company had net capital loss carry-forwards of approximately $3,700 (2002 - $5,700), which are available to 
reduce net capital gains of future years.  

17. STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS  

(a) The net changes in non-cash working capital balances related to operations are as follows: 2003 2002 2001  

 

(b) Cash outflows during the year for interest and income taxes were as follows:  

 

(c) During 2003, capital assets (including plant and equipment and equipment under capital lease) were acquired at an aggregate cost of 
$11,691 (2002 - $7,093; 2001 - $117,948) of which $980 (2002 - $1,514; 2001 - $1,244) were acquired by means of capital leases.  

18. RECONCILIATION TO ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES GENERALLY ACCEPTED IN THE U.S.  

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted accounting principles, which 
differ in some respects from those in the  
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                                                                               2003                  2 002 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future income tax asset, long-term                                         11,139                 11,218 
Future income tax liability, long-term: 
Project term loan and Kaiser-Francis credit facilit y                           (1,805)                    -- 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future income tax asset, long-term                                $         9,334        $        11,218 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
 
Current future income tax liability: 
Deferred financing costs                                              $           216        $            -- 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future tax asset, current                                         $           216        $            -- 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
 
Future mining tax liability, long-term: 
Mining interests, net                                                 $        10,108        $         9,600 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  
Net future mining tax liability, long-term                            $        10,108        $         9,600 
                                                                      -------------------------------- -------------  

                                                                  2003               2002               2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Decrease (increase) in: 
Concentrate awaiting settlement                               $     (9,298)     $      (2,778)     $    (32,825) 
Inventories and stockpiles                                           3,179                507           (12,815) 
Accounts receivable and other assets                                   296                943             2,992 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     (5,823)     $      (1,328)     $    (42,648) 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
 
Increase (decrease) in: 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                      $      1,218      $      (2,442)     $      9,679 
Taxes payable                                                         (630)            (1,599)            1,559 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $        588      $      (4,041)     $     11,238 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
                                                              $     (5,235)     $      (5,369)     $    (31,410) 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  

                                                                  2003               2002               2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ ----------------  
Interest paid                                                 $      3,433      $      5,842       $      6,390 
Income taxes paid                                             $         --      $         --       $         -- 



United States. The following table presents amounts that would have been reported had the Company's consolidated financial statements been 
prepared on the basis of United States generally accepted accounting principles ("U.S. GAAP"):  

(Canadian funds in thousands of dollars, except share and per share amounts)  

 

(a) The Company capitalizes interest on major projects where direct indebtedness has occurred. Under U.S. GAAP, interest is capitalized as it 
arises from indebtedness incurred, directly or indirectly, to finance development and construction activities on assets that are not yet subject to 
amortization or depletion. The current year adjustment relates entirely to the amortization of these amounts under U.S. GAAP.  

(b) Under Canadian GAAP, the cost of the Company's concentrate and crushed and broken ore stockpiles is determined on the average 
production cost and does not include an allocation of the amortization of production related assets, whereas under U.S. GAAP the cost of these 
assets should include this allocation.  
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                                                                   2003                2002                2001 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
Statements of earnings and deficit: 
Net income under Canadian GAAP                              $        38,378        $       15,082      $        7,188 
Amortization of capitalized interest (a)                                (39)                  (20) o              (17) 
Concentrates and crushed and broken ore stockpiles (b)               (1,702)                 (404)              2,914 
Derivative financial instruments (c)                                 (2,867)                   74                  -- 
Reversal of asset retirement obligation under Canad ian 
GAAP (e)                                                                 --                    53                 322 
Tax effect of differences                                             1,459                   112                (879) 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
 
Net income and comprehensive income under U.S. GAAP           $       35,229        $       14,897      $        9,528 
     before cumulative impact of change in accounti ng 
     policy 
Cumulative impact of change in accounting policy fo r 
     asset retirement obligations (e)                                  (375)                   --                  -- 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
 
Net income and comprehensive income under U.S. GAAP           $       34,854        $     14,897        $       9,528 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
 
Basic and diluted income per share under U.S. GAAP before 
     cumulative impact of change in accounting poli cy        $         0.69        $         0.29      $         0.19 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
 
Basic and diluted income per share under U.S. GAAP           $         0.69        $         0.29      $         0.19 
                                                            ------------------------------------------ -------------------  
Balance sheets: 
Current assets (b) and (c)                                   $      124,186        $      127,731 
Mining interests (a)                                         $      247,769        $      267,143 
Crushed and broken ore stockpiles - long-term (b)            $        6,889        $        9,774 
Future tax asset, long-term                                  $        9,124        $        9,549 
Capital stock (d)                                            $      319,587        $      318,081 
Deficit                                                      $      (19,333)       $      (54,187) 



(c) Under U.S. GAAP, the Company has chosen not to designate its derivative financial instruments as hedging instruments and thus they are 
carried on the balance sheet at their fair value and any changes in fair value are being recorded to earnings in the period of the change.  

(d) Canadian GAAP allows for the reduction of the stated capital of outstanding common shares with a corresponding offset to deficit. This 
reclassification, which the Company made in 1991, is not permitted by U.S. GAAP and would result in an increase in both capital stock and 
deficit of $6,098 at December 31, 2003 and 2002.  

(e) Effective January 1, 2003, the Company adopted FAS 143, "Accounting for Asset Retirement Obligations" which requires that the fair 
value of liabilities for asset retirement obligations be recognized in the period in which they occur. A corresponding increase to the carrying 
amount of the related asset is generally recorded and amortized over the life of the asset. The amount of the liability is subject to re-
measurement at each reporting period. The cumulative effect of the change through January 1, 2003 was to increase mining assets by $6,489, 
increase the mine closure obligation to $7,019 and a one time after-tax charge to net earnings of $375. The equivalent accounting policy was 
retroactively adopted under Canadian GAAP, with restatement of prior year's financial statements (note 2). Under US GAAP, a change in 
accounting policy is adopted retroactively, without restatement of prior year's financial statements, by recording a cumulative catch-up 
adjustment through current year net income.  

(f) U.S. GAAP requires that amounts totaling 5% or more of accounts payable and accrued liabilities be identified separately. As at December 
31, 2003, these amounts were as follows: trade payables and accruals - $13,756 (2002 - $13,339); other accruals - $2,285 (2002 - $1,484).  

(g) U.S. GAAP does not permit the disclosure of subtotal of cash from operations before changes in non-cash working capital.  

(h) Effective January 1, 2003, the Company prospectively adopted FAS No. 123 "Accounting for Stock-based Compensation" as amended by 
FAS No. 148, whereby compensation expense for options granted after January 1, 2003 is measured at fair value at the grant date using the 
Black-Scholes valuation model and recognized over the remaining vesting period of the options granted. Previously, the Company, for 
purposes of preparing financial information in accordance with U.S. GAAP, accounted for its stock-based compensation plan under 
Accounting Principles Board Opinion 25 "Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees" (APB No. 25) which did not result in the recognition of 
compensation expense. Under FAS 148, pro forma disclosure is still required for those options granted prior to January 1, 2003.  

Had the amortization of the fair value of options been charged to compensation expense under U.S. GAAP, the pro forma net income would be 
$36,014 and pro forma net income per share and diluted net income per share would be $0.71 (2002 net income of $12,249 and net income and 
diluted net income per share of $0.24; 2001 net income of $5,884 and net income and diluted net income per share of $0.12).  
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The weighted average fair market value of options granted in 2002 was $4.33 (2001 - $5.84).  

The Company estimated the fair value of options granted in 2001 using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following 
assumptions: risk free interest rate 4%, expected life of options of 3 years, expected volatility of the Company's share price of 71%, expected 
dividend yield of nil.  

IMPENDING ACCOUNTING CHANGES  

CANADIAN GAAP  
In 2003, the CICA issued Accounting Guideline AcG-15, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities", to provide guidance for applying the 
principles in Handbook  
Section 1590, "Subsidiaries", to certain entities. Although the CICA is contemplating amendments to the Guideline, it is expected to be 
effective for the Company's 2005 fiscal year. The Company will review AcG-15, the impact of the Guideline, if any, on the Company's 
consolidated financial statements when the CICA issues the amended Guideline.  

In 2003, the CICA finalized amendments to Accounting Guideline AcG-13, "Hedging Relationships", that clarified certain of the requirements 
in AcG-13 and provided additional application guidance. AcG-13 is applicable for the Company's 2004 fiscal year. The Company does not 
expect the adoption of this Guideline to have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.  

U.S. GAAP  
In 2003, the FASB amended Interpretation No. 46, "Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities" ("FIN 46R"). FIN 46R requires that a variable 
interest entity ("VIE") be consolidated by a company if that company is subject to a majority of the risk of loss from the VIE's activities and/or 
is entitled to receive a majority of the VIE's residual returns. For the Company, the requirements of FIN 46R apply to VIE's created after 
January 31, 2003. For VIEs created before January 31, 2003, the requirements of FIN46R apply as of December 31, 2004 for a VIE that does 
not meet the definition of a special-purpose entity ("SPE") and as of January 1, 2004 for a VIE that is an SPE.  

Although the Company is currently reviewing FIN 46R, the impact, if any, of these pronouncements on the Company's consolidated financial 
statements has not been determined.  

19. COMPARATIVE FIGURES Certain of the prior years' figures have been reclassified to conform to the presentation adopted in 2003.  

-22-  



FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

Enclosed are the Company's consolidated balance sheets as at December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the consolidated statements of earnings and 
deficit and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2003 (collectively the "Financial Statements") and 
management's discussion and analysis of operations and financial position ("MD&A") for the Financial Statements. Certain statements 
included the Financial Statements and MD&A are forward-looking statements which are made pursuant to the "safe harbor" provisions of the 
United States Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. They include estimates and statements that describe the Company's future 
plans, objectives and goals, including words to the effect that the Company or management expects a stated condition or result to occur. When 
used herein, words such as "estimate", "expect", "intend", and other similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. In 
particular, statements relating to estimated mineral reserves, cash flows, capital costs, ore production, mine life, financing, construction and 
strategic plans are forward-looking statements. Such forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties and are subject to 
factors, many of which are beyond our control, that may cause actual results or performance to differ materially from those currently 
anticipated in such statements. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements include among others metal price volatility, economic and political events affecting metal supply and demand, 
fluctuations in ore grade, ore tonnes milled, geological, technical, mining or processing problems, future profitability and production, and 
availability of financing on acceptable terms. For a more comprehensive review of risk factors, please refer to the Company's most recent 
"Management's Discussion and Analysis" (enclosed) and Annual Information Form under "Risk Factors" on file with the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission and Canada provincial securities regulatory authorities. Given these uncertainties, readers are cautioned not to put 
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements 
whether as a result of new information, events or otherwise.  
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